
It is expected that a Quorum of the Personnel Committee, Board of Public Works, Plan Commission and Administration Committee 
will be attending this meeting: (although it is not expected that any official action of any of those bodies will be taken)  

 
CITY OF MENASHA 

SUSTAINABILITY BOARD 
Common Council Chambers 

140 Main Street, Menasha 
 

Tuesday, May 17, 2011 
6:30 PM 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER  
 
B. ROLL CALL/EXCUSED ABSENCES  
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON ANY MATTER OF CONCERN TO THE SUSTAINABILITY 

BOARD (five (5) minute time limit for each person)  
 
D. MINUTES TO APPROVE  
 

1. March 15, 2011  
 
E. COMMUNICATIONS  

 
1. Earth Week Flyer 
2. ECOS Fox Valley – Planning for Groundwater Resources 
 

F. REPORTS 
  

1. One-2-Five Report 
 

G. DISCUSSION 
 

1. Propane Fuel Vehicles (Tim Jacobson, Department of Public Works) 
2. Urban Forestry Program (Roger Kanitz) 
3. Public Transportation (Roger Kanitz) 
4. Complete Streets (Linda Stoll) 
5. Hydropower and Charging Stations (Ed Kassel)  
6. Urban Agriculture (Linda Stoll) 

 
H. ACTION ITEMS 

 
1. Resolution in Support of Restoring Recycling Grants to the 2011-2013 Biennial Budget 
2. 2011-2012 Sustainability Plan 
3. Farm Fresh Market Standards for Local Produce 
 

I. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
  
"Menasha is committed to its diverse population. Our Non-English speaking population and those with disabilities are invited to 
contact the Menasha City Clerk at 967-3603 24-hours in advance of the meeting for the City to arrange special accommodations."  

http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/Sustainability%20Board%20Minutes_March%2015%202011.pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/Earth%20Week%20Flyer.pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/ECOS_Groundwater%20Issues%20Flyer_6_2_11.pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/One-2-Five%20Final%20Report%20(2).pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/Complete%20Streets_Policy.pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/Urban%20Agriculture_San%20Francisco%20Ordinance.pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/Recycling%20Resolution%20(3).pdf�
http://www.cityofmenasha-wi.gov/COM/Clerk/Sustainability_Board/2011/2011%20Sustainability%20Plan%20(2).pdf�


 
CITY OF MENASHA 

SUSTAINABILITY BOARD 
Third Floor Council Chambers 

140 Main Street, Menasha 
 

Tuesday, March 15, 2011 
6:30 PM 

 
MINUTES 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

1. The meeting was called to order at 6:36 by Chairperson Linda Stoll. 
 

B. ROLL CALL 
1. Present:  Chairperson Linda Stoll, Ed Kassel, Kathy Thunes, Chris Bohne, Mike 

Dillon, Sadie Schroeder and Becky Bauer  
2. Excused: Roger Kanitz 
3. Also Present: Community Development Director Greg Keil, Paul Van de Sand 

(Franklin Energy), and Mark Albert (Menasha Utilities) 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

1. No one spoke.  
 

D. MINUTES TO APPROVE 
1. Chris Bohne made and Sadie Schroeder seconded a motion to approve the 

minutes from the February 15, 2011 Sustainability Board meeting.  The motion 
carried. 

 
E. COMMUNICATIONS 

1. Bike to Work Week – Fox Cities Greenways Inc. 
 Board members discussed measures for supporting bike to work week activities.  

Greg Keil is to draft a letter from the Sustainability Board to be signed by Linda 
Stoll encouraging city employees and board and committee members to bike to 
work.    

2. Sustainable Oshkosh Brochure 
 A copy of the brochure was distributed. 

 
F. REPORTS 

1. One-2-Five Report 
Paul Van de Sand will present the report at the April Sustainability Board meeting. 
 

2. Municipal Facilities Electrical Consumption Baseline Report 
Amy Kester will report at the April Sustainability Board meeting. 

 
G. DISCUSSION 

1. WPPI Energy Initiatives 
Mark Albert, Energy Services Representative for Wisconsin Public Power, Inc. 
summarized the forms of energy services available from WPPI to its residential 
and commercial customers.  He also described the relationship between Focus 
on Energy and WPPI programs.  Mr. Albert also reported on the solar 
photovoltaic system demonstration project that is to be installed at the Public 
Protection Facility on First Street and the planning that is underway for a similar 
system at the new fire station on Manitowoc Road.   
 



 
2. Trails and Sidewalks 

Board members discussed the ongoing debate regarding sidewalks in the 
Ribblesdale and Woodland Hills subdivisions relative to the stated objectives in 
the Menasha 2030 Comprehensive Plan relating to connectivity between 
neighborhoods.  Motion by Mike Dillon, seconded by Becky Bauer to direct that 
Linda Stoll draft a letter from the Sustainability Board to the Common Council 
supporting connectivity between neighborhoods.  The motion carried.    
 

3. Recycling  
No report.  This item is to return on the April Sustainability Board agenda. 

 
H. ACTION ITEMS 

1. 2011 Sustainability Plan 
 This item was held pending an update by Principal Planner Amy Kester. 
2. Earth Day Event 
 Kathy Thunes presented an Earth Week poster commissioned by ECOS Fox 

Valley.  A schedule of events is being developed. 
3. Farm Fresh Market Standards for Local Produce 

Sadie Schroeder discussed the practice of vendors in some markets buying 
produce or other products from wholesale or other non-local markets and selling 
them as locally grown or produced.   She will make inquiry as to criteria for 
vendors to participate in farm markets and report at the April Sustainability Board 
meeting.   

 
I.  ADJOURNMENT 

1. Chris Bohne made and Sadie Schroeder seconded a motion to adjourn at 8:35 pm.  
The motion carried unanimously. 

Respectfully submitted by CDD Greg Keil. 



FOX VALLEY

MORE

APRIL 12-26, 2011

A Community Partnership Coordinated by ECOS Fox Valley

12TUESDAY

UW Fox Valley-Fox Cities Book Festival
GOOD FOOD REVOLUTION
1478 Midway Road • Menasha, WI

12:00 pm Noon
Will Allen, an urban farmer extraordinaire 

from Milwaukee will speak as part of the Fox 
Cities Book Festival.

FREE
For more information:  Call (920)832-2600 or 

www.uwfox.uwc.edu

13WEDNESDAY

Fox Valley Technical College 
SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS 

EXCHANGE
DJ Bordini Center, 5 Systems Drive

Appleton, WI
7:30 - 11:30 am

FREE
For more information: 

www.fvtc.edu/earthweek

18MONDAY

Appleton Public Library 
EARTH-FRIENDLY STORIES & ART

225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 
1:30 pm

Come to any of the Stories & Art programs 
during the week of April 18. Enjoy stories 
celebrating Earth Day, and make art with 

recycled materials!
Free

For more information:  www.apl.org

Globally Sound Fair Trade
PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU 

RECYCLE)
604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 

10:00 am - 7:00 pm
See full description on Saturday, April 16.

Fox Valley Technical College
LUNCHTIME LEARNING SESSION

1825 N. Bluemound Road • Rm. A170C 
Appleton, WI

12:00 - 1:00 pm
FREE

Learn about recycling with an Outagamie 
County expert.

For more information:  
www.fvtc.edu/earthweek

16SATURDAY

20WEDNESDAY

Habitat ReStore’s
COMMUNITY-WIDE ANNUAL EARTH DAY EVENT

3000 E College Avenue •  Appleton, WI  
9am - 3pm                   

This community-wide event will feature approximately 50 vendors 
and exhibitors, an animal exhibit, educational forums - you can learn 
how to make a rain barrel, get timely tips on gardening/composting 

and growing in our zone, get energy saving tips and products and 
find earth-friendly products to make your life easier and the 

environment greener.
There will also be children’s activities, eco-cars, fun,

local food and more!
Event is FREE to the public.

For more information:  www.appletonrestore.org

1000 Islands Environmental Center
SPRING CLEAN-UP & TREE SEEDLING PICK-UP

1000 Beaulieu Court • Kaukauna, WI
9:00 am - 12:00 pm

Begin your Earth Day Celebrations by helping to beautify the 1000 
Islands Conservancy Zone.  Clean up litter, bark trails or help battle the 

invasive species.  Bring work gloves if you have them!  Lunch will be 
provided after the clean-up.  The 1st Tree Seedling sale will also be 

concluding with the Seedling Pick-Up for those who have submitted 
orders by the April 1st deadline.  Limited seedlings may be available on a 
walk-in basis.  Please contact the Environmental Center for more details.

FREE including lunch after the event.
For more information:  www.1000islandsenvironmentalcenter.com

Appleton Public Library
EARTH WEEK BOOK DISCUSSION

225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 
Lower Level Meeting Room

12 - 1:00 pm
Join Elizabeth Eisen, APL Adult Programming Librarian, who will lead a 

discussion on Rachel Carson’s ground-breaking classic, Silent Spring. 
Bring a brown bag lunch if you wish. Refreshments served. Multiple 
copies of Silent Spring are available. Contact the Reference Desk at 

920-832-6173 to reserve your copy.
FREE

For more information: www.apl.org

Appleton Public Library 
EARTH-FRIENDLY STORIES & ART

225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 
1:30 pm

 Enjoy stories celebrating Earth Day, and make art with
recycled materials!

Free
For more information:  www.apl.org

Heckrodt Wetland Reserve
DIRT DAY RUMBLE

1305 Plank Road • Menasha, WI
1:00 - 3:00 pm

Come on kids! Have some fun in the MUD with Heckrodt’s own brand 
Earth Day Celebration.  Make a dirt craft, dig in the dirt, and stomp the 

swamp.  Sample some dirt dessert and grimy grog!
$5/child, preregistration and prepayment is required.

Forms are available to print from our website at 
www.heckrodtwetland.com

For more information:  Contact Luke Schiller, 920-720-9349

Sustainable Fox Valley
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 101

Habitat ReStore’s Earth Day Event
3000 E College Avenue •  Appleton, WI  

11:00 am

Globally Sound Fair Trade
PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU RECYCLE)

604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 
10:00 am - 4:00 pm

Prevent items from ending up in the landfill. Prevent the energy and 
resources used in the recycling process. Concentrate on reduce & 

reuse to lessen environmental impact.
In what ways does Globally Sound Fair Trade precycle? Come in and 
you’ll be able to see many obvious answers and some that may take 

a little more concentration. List the ways that you see Globally 
Sound precycles and you could win a $25 Globally Sound gift 

certificate.
FREE

For more information: www.globallysound.com or 
www.facebook.com/globallysound or 920-993-9989

19TUESDAY

Appleton Public Library 
EARTH-FRIENDLY STORIES & ART

225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 
1:30 pm

 Enjoy stories celebrating Earth Day, and make 
art with recycled materials!

Free
For more information: www.apl.org

Globally Sound Fair Trade
PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU 

RECYCLE)
604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 

10:00 am - 7:00 pm
See full description on Saturday, April 16.

Menasha Public Library
EARTH DAY CELEBRATION

440 1st Street • Menasha, WI
 Children’s Department

10 - 10:30 am
Listen to Earth Day Stories and do some seed 

gardening.
FREE

For more information: 
www.menashalibrary.org

Little Chute Library 
 AFTER SCHOOL SPECIAL:

EARTH DAY CRAFT
625 Grand Avenue • Little Chute, WI

3:30 - 4:15 pm
Listen to a few stories about our wonderful 

world and make a special craft.
Great for kids ages 5 - 11

FREE
For more information: www.kimlit.org

Fox Valley Technical College
ELECTRONICS RECYCLING EVENT

1825 N. Bluemound Road • Appleton, WI
10:00 am - 6:00 pm
For more information:  

www.fvtc.edu/earthweek
Contact Joanne Gorski, gorski@fvtc.edu

Fox Valley Technical College
DIRT - THE MOVIE

1825 N. Bluemound Road • Appleton, WI
Spectators Lounge (near cafeteria)

Three Showings: 11:30 am, 3:30 pm,
6:00 pm

For more information: 
www.fvtc.edu/earthweek

Globally Sound Fair Trade
PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU RECYCLE)

604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 
10:00 am - 7:00 pm

See full description on Saturday, April 16.

Fox Valley Technical College
LUNCHTIME LEARNING SESSION

1825 N. Bluemound Road • Rm. A170C 
Appleton, WI

12:00 - 1:00 pm
FREE

For more information:  www.fvtc.edu/earthweek

Fox Valley Technical College
WHO KILLED THE ELECTRIC CAR

1825 N. Bluemound Road • Appleton, WI
Spectators Lounge (near cafeteria)

Three Showings: 11:30 am, 3:30 pm,
6:00 pm

For more information:  www.fvtc.edu/earthweek



FOX VALLEY APRIL 12-26, 2011

A Community Partnership Coordinated by ECOS Fox Valley

21
Globally Sound Fair Trade

PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU 
RECYCLE)

604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 
10:00 am - 7:00 pm

See full description on Saturday, April 16.

Appleton Public Library 
EARTH-FRIENDLY STORIES & 

ART
225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 

1:30 pm
 Enjoy stories celebrating Earth Day, and 

make art with recycled materials!
FREE

For more information: www.apl.org

Fox Valley Technical College
BAG IT!

1825 N. Bluemound Road • Appleton, WI
Spectators Lounge (near cafeteria)

Three Showings: 11:30 am, 3:30 pm,
6:00 pm

For more information:  
www.fvtc.edu/earthweek

Appleton Public Library 
EARTH WEEK EDITION OF 
THURSDAY NIGHT AT THE 

MOVIES
225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 

Lower Level Meeting Room
6 - 8:00 pm

Join us as we view the Robert Stone 
documentary, Earth Days. This American 

Experience film is a poetic meditation on Man’s 
complex relationship with nature and the 

history of revolutionary achievements in the 
field of eco-activism. Refreshments will be 

served.
FREE

For more information: www.apl.org

25MONDAY

Paper Discovery Center
EARTH DAY/ARBOR DAY EVENT

425 W. Water Street • Appleton, WI
Historic Atlas Mill

next to Fratello’s Restaurant
10:00 am - 4:00 pm

See full description on Friday, April 22.  
 Members -  Families - $12, Adults - $5, 

Children - $3, Seniors - $4
For more information:  

www.PaperDiscoveryCenter.org

Neenah Public Library 

ALDO LEOPOLD’S
GREEN FIRE FILM

204 E. Wisconsin Avenue • Neenah, WI  
Shattuck Community Room

7:00 pm
Dr. Stanley Temple will be speaking at the event.

For more information:  Mike Thomas,
(920) 886-6315

www.neenahlibrary.org

26TUESDAY

Wild Ones - Fox Valley Area
GOING WILD

NATIVE PLANT GARDENS 
AWAKEN AT THE WILD CENTER
 2285 West Butte des Morts Beach Road, 

Neenah • WI
12:00 pm - 8:00 pm

 FREE
For more information:  

www.wildones.org/chapters/foxvalley 

THURSDAY
22

Globally Sound Fair Trade
PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU 

RECYCLE)
604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 

10:00 am - 7:00 pm
See full description on Saturday, April 16.

Appleton Public Library 
EARTH-FRIENDLY STORIES & ART

225 N. Oneida St. • Appleton, WI 
1:30 pm

 Enjoy stories celebrating Earth Day, and make 
art with recycled materials!

FREE
For more information:  www.apl.org

Paper Discovery Center
EARTH DAY/ARBOR DAY EVENT

425 W. Water Street • Appleton, WI
Historic Atlas Mill

next to Fratello’s Restaurant
10:00 am - 4:00 pm

Extra hands-on activities included in regular 
admission price. Receive a free pine tree 
seedlings (Courtesy of Plum Creek). From 

10am - 2pm, Climb to the rafters using tree 
climbing harnesses (with Appleton City 

Foresters). Learn to make paper from recycled 
clothes - see a demonstration, make a book 

out of rag paper, include dryer lint when you 
make your sheet of hand-made paper in the 

Purdy-Weissenborn Paper lab, and much more.
 Members - Free

Parents are FREE TODAY ONLY
Families - $12, Adults - $5, Children - $3, 

Seniors - $4
For more information:  

www.PaperDiscoveryCenter.org

Just Act Natural
EARTH DAY OPEN HOUSE
129 E. College Ave • Appleton, WI

5:00 - 7:00 pm
Enjoy organic hors d'oeuvres, beverages and 
live music. Socialize with fellow “greenies”! 

Take the “How Green Are You?” quiz and enter 
to win a $50 Gift Certificate.

 For more information:  
www.justactnatural.com or

www.facebook.com/justactnatural

EARTH DAY - FRIDAY

23
Globally Sound Fair Trade

PRECYCLE (BEFORE YOU 
RECYCLE)

604 W. College Ave. • Appleton, WI 
10:00 am - 4:00 pm

See full description on Saturday, April 16.

Appleton Downtown Inc. 
WALKING TRIVIA

Downtown Appleton Businesses 
11:00 am - 3:00 pm

 Grab your friends and family and leave those 
cars behind. Take a walk downtown and 

answer Earth Day trivia questions posted at 
downtown businesses. Have a chance to win 

Appleton Downtown gift certificates.
FREE

For more information:  
www.appletondowntown.org

Lawrence University Greenfire
EARTH DAY CELEBRATION

Lawrence University Main Hall Green
Rain Site: Warch Campus Center

11:30 am - 4:00 pm
Informational booths, live music, food, crafts, 

and more
For more information:  

Lawrence.edu/sorg/greenfire

Paper Discovery Center
EARTH DAY/ARBOR DAY EVENT

425 W. Water Street • Appleton, WI
Historic Atlas Mill

next to Fratello’s Restaurant
10:00 am - 4:00 pm

See full description on Friday, April 22.  
Saturday’s events also include the movies:  

Tapped, Arbor Day and Tree Wishes.
 Members -  Families - $12, Adults - $5, 

Children - $3, Seniors - $4
For more information:  

www.PaperDiscoveryCenter.org

Neenah Public Library 
ROBERT FROST’S

 “ONE STRAW ROB”
204 E. Wisconsin Avenue • Neenah, WI 

2:00 pm
Ecological Yardening/sustainability in a 

suburban setting.
For more information: www.neenahlibrary.org

Just Act Natural
ECO EXPO

129 E. College Ave • Appleton, WI
10:00 am - 5:00 pm

Local vendors come together to be the voice 
for natural, healthy and sustainable lifestyles 
in the Fox Valley. You will be inspired by the 

people you meet and empowered by the 
knowledge you discover!  Explore food, energy, 

transportation and natural wellness.
FREE

 For more information:  
www.justactnatural.com or

www.facebook.com/justactnatural

Just Act Natural
TAPPED

Showing at the Paper Discovery Center
425 W. Water Street • Appleton, WI

Historic Atlas Mill
next to Fratello’s Restaurant

4:30 pm
Documentary film is Stephanie Soechtig's 

debut feature. An unflinching examination of 
the big business of bottled water.

FREE
 For more information:  

www.justactnatural.com or
www.facebook.com/justactnatural

SATURDAY

Every effort was made to insure 
accuracy at time of printing.  Most 
events are free unless noted 
otherwise.  Please confirm event 
details with host prior to 
participating.

“Nobody can do everything, but everybody can do something.”



 

Planning for our 
Groundwater Resources 

 

Thursday, June 2nd 6:30 PM 
Menasha Public Library  

Lower Level – Company E Room 

440 First Street, Menasha WI 
 
 

  

Join Eric W. Fowle, AICP - Executive Director of the 
East Central Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission, 
as he shares information about important issues related 
to groundwater quality and quantity within the East 
Central Region, and locally within the Fox River Valley. 

 

Event is Free and Open to the Public  
 

 

  
 E

C
O

S
 –

 F
O

X
 V

A
LL

E
Y

  
  

  
  

  
 

 



 

 

January 10, 2011  

Mayor Donald Merkes 

City of Menasha  

140 Main Street 

Menasha, WI 54952 

 

Dear Mayor Merkes: 

 

Thank you for your time and that of your staff on December 9, 2010.  I appreciated your 

input and feedback and trust that you found the One-2-Five® Energy diagnostic session an 

informative and worthwhile exercise.  This process has been successfully used to help more than 

2,610 facilities and plants define their critical next steps that drive their energy management 

program and deliver long-term savings. 

The attached output and benchmarking reports from the diagnostic show a snapshot of the 

current overall energy management performance for your site.  EnVinta’s One-2-Five® Energy 

database contains 103 sites in your industry sector of “Local Government Administration” and 

your results are compared against these sites.  The diagnostic process revealed that: 

 You rated your operations at the 2 star level, which indicates that having undertaken 

basic waste reduction activities you are currently establishing the systems and 

implementing the strategies necessary for a strategic and comprehensive approach to 

managing energy-related issues.  Of the 103 total sites in the benchmarking database for 

this industry sector, 46 of them rank as 1 star sites, and 49 rank in your category of 2 

stars.  Additionally, there are five 3 star sites and three 4 star sites. 

 The site has an International Benchmark Rating of 1.39, which is well above the industry 

sector average of 1.19, and significantly below the industry-leading score of 3.72. 

 Based on an extrapolation of usage and Star score data for your industry, indicative 

annual savings in the range of 12% to 15% ($40,000 to $50,000) could be available if you 

continue to incorporate additional energy management best practice processes 

throughout your operations. 

 The City of Menasha scored 16 of the 22 elements evaluated at bronze level or above 

and has a star rating equivalent or better than 92% of participants in the industry. The 

One-2-Five® Energy benchmarking indicates that 55% of the elements for this site scored 

at or above average relative to the “Local Government Administration” sector.  The City 



 

 

of Menasha scored at the Platinum level for one of the elements (element 8.1 Efficiency 

of Existing Plant Design).    

During the diagnostic we identified a number of areas where further development could still 

occur and these are discussed in the following report with the critical next actions highlighted 

below.  As we discussed, One-2-Five® Energy helps identify the most important next steps for 

further developing your energy management program – extracting greatest value from 

resources by ensuring each project undertaken is supported by other relevant activities.  As you 

have experienced in other parts of your business, namely quality, safety, and environment, 

taking a systems approach and establishing sound business processes is a critical success factor 

in a management program and necessary to establish the right environment for achieving 

sustainable benefits  - energy is no different. 

One-2-Five® Energy has recommended that you initially focus on actions in the following areas: 

1. Demonstrated Corporate Commitment - A feature of every successful management 

program is commitment and leadership from top management. This means that senior 

management, right to the CEO and Board level, demonstrate that energy management 

matters in the organization, communicate this effectively, and ensure that results are 

achieved. Most organizations with successful programs have a written energy policy that 

incorporates clear, quantified objectives for improvement in energy performance. This 

need not be an elaborate effort, rather a brief directive communicating management’s 

commitment and support to specific energy management goals can be just as effective.   

A regular agenda item at executive-level manager meetings providing for regular 

reporting on the organization’s progress towards the established policy goals, serves to 

reinforce the importance of the endeavor over time. 

2. Understanding of Performance and Opportunities – Clearly, The City of Menasha has 

made strides in understanding energy performance and responding to opportunities.  

Establishing the energy use per unit of output for each major area or process may give 

the organization insight into opportunities for cost control beyond just the already-

captured “low-hanging fruit”.  This level of understanding the energy use will also help 

in focusing resources in those areas that will return the largest benefit given their 

degree of energy intensity and therefore production cost impact. Furthermore, 

implementing a process of comparing normalized performance data of related sites or 

site operations could make additional advancement in the organization as a whole.  This 

activity can serve as the basis for establishing accurate targets for further improvement 

based on the performance of the top sites in each category. 



 

 

Financial assistance for engineering studies and engineering audits are available from 

Focus on Energy program. 

3. Accountabilities – Making the actual energy end-users accountable for their overall 

energy usage are a watershed issue in a site’s energy program and are one of the best 

ways to encourage operational staff to fully participate in the energy management 

initiatives. Transfer of accountability depends on good metering so that the energy 

usage can be successfully assigned, as well as a demonstration of how facilities 

management and engineering can support the responsible parties achieve significant 

reductions in usage. Being held accountable will lift the profile of energy management 

within operations and personnel will be more inclined to assist with the identification of 

opportunities for equipment retrofit, as well as potential improvements within 

operational procedures and areas requiring maintenance attention. 

4. Criteria/Budgets for Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) – Evaluating energy projects with 

the same criteria and financial hurdle rate as other projects are important to produce 

significant reductions in energy operating costs.  It is recommended that the energy team 

work with the City of Menasha’s financial representatives to work towards implementing 

this process. 

We Energies along with Focus on Energy can provide training opportunities for 

developing effective energy management plans through the use of Focus on Energy’s 

Practical Energy Management (PEM) program 

5. Reporting, Feedback and Control Systems – Typically organizations focus on 

engineering solutions to drive their energy efficiency initiatives; however, substantial 

benefits can be obtained by tightening control on energy usage during normal operation.  

Energy usage by unit operation should be optimized and variances discouraged.  To be 

successful at this, organizations need to ensure quality information is provided to the 

operators in a format that makes it easy for them to assess where wastage is occurring.  

These should be backed up with defined actions to reduce any wastage identified. 

We Energies along with Focus on Energy can provide training opportunities for 

developing effective energy management plans through the use of Focus on Energy’s 

Practical Energy Management (PEM) program. 

 

 



 

 

We Energies and Franklin Energy Services would like to thank The City of Menasha for their 

participation in the One-2-Five® Energy diagnostic session.  We trust this Management Systems 

Diagnostic Session provides the basis for identifying opportunities to reduce your energy costs.  

There are a number of programs and services available through We Energies and Focus on 

Energy that you may find useful in implementing the above recommendations and generally 

support your energy management activities. 

Best Regards, 
 
 
Harvey Oates 
Franklin Energy Services 



City of Menasha

Energy Diagnostic

Menasha

Prepared for

Diagnostic Review Completed on

Next Recommended Review

Donald Merkes

December 07, 2010

March 07, 2011

Harvey Oates

Prepared by

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 1 of 7.



Executive Summary

Your Star Rating

1 Star   - Limited focus on energy

2 Stars - Basic waste reduction activities

3 Stars - Formal systems for energy being established

4 Stars - Energy systems integrated into business systems

5 Stars - Achieving best practice & continuous improvement 

Annual Energy Costs and Savings

Energy Costs as % of Variable Operating Costs

Indicative Greenhouse Gas Emissions Savings *

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions ^

Indicative Energy Savings *

Total Energy Costs $330,282.

$40,000 to $50,000.

200 to 300 tons of carbon dioxide.

Not Specified.

2,000 tons of carbon dioxide.

^ Greenhouse Gas Emissions are based on available average emissions co-efficients. Actual emissions will vary from site to site 

based on the specific energy sources used by the site. Emissions do not include purchased steam.

The Star Rating is One-2-Five Energy’s main ranking of your systems for energy management 

and follows the definitions listed below. The Star Rating also forms the basis for benchmarking 

at www.one-2-five.com, enabling you to compare your performance against other sites within 

your own operations and against other organizations.

The following savings estimates are based on your type of business and your current Star 

Rating. Savings opportunities are typically greater when your organization’s Star Rating is low. 

As you implement systems, you achieve greater and sustainable savings.

* Broad indicative savings only for similar types of organizations with your star rating. It should be noted that a specific site review 

is required to determine your savings opportunities. This range is only provided to give an idea of preliminary scope for savings. 

ENVINTA and the distributors of this product do not guarantee that your organisation can achieve these indicative savings.

Star Rating 

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 2 of 7.



Diagnostic Results

Levels of Development

The elements are each rated in one of five levels of development.

Silver level indicates that you are starting to manage this element with formal systems. 

Bronze level indicates a waste cutting approach is used for this element. 

Platinum level is achieved where you manage an element with best practice systems and 

have a continuous improvement program driving further improvement.

Gold level indicates that you manage this element with established systems, which are 

integrated into everyday business.

Areas for Focus

The Diagnostic Results section is a summary of your organization's performance in energy 

management as identified by your responses to the diagnostic session.

Yet to qualify indicates that your organization has a limited focus on this element of 

energy management.

Elements that are identified as critical should take precedence at this stage of development in 

your systems for energy management. Selection of these Critical Elements is based on results 

from the diagnostic, and also your ranking of the importance of each element to your 

organization. The actions listed in the Recommended Actions section address these Critical 

Elements.

Overview 

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 3 of 7.



Diagnostic Results

Level of DevelopmentElement User 

Priority

Critical 

Action Items
Yet to Qualify Bronze Silver Gold Platinum

CriticalMedium1.1 Demonstrated corporate commitment

CriticalHigh2.1 Understanding of performance and 

opportunities

-Medium3.1 Targets, performance indicators (KPI) 

and motivation

-Medium3.2 Plans

CriticalMedium4.1 Accountabilities

-Medium4.2 Awareness and training

-Low4.3 Resourcing

CriticalHigh5.1 Criteria/Budgets for capital 

expenditure (CAPEX)

-Medium5.2 Energy operating budgets

-Low6.1 Purchasing procedures and 

alternative energy options

-Low6.2 Quality and reliability of supply

-Medium6.3 Optimizing purchasing within supply 

agreement

-Low7.1 Operating procedures

-Low7.2 Maintenance procedures

-Low8.1 Efficiency of existing plant design

-Medium8.2 Procedures - plant design/retrofit, 

purchasing/replacement

-Medium8.3 Innovation and new technology

-Low9.1 Metering and monitoring

CriticalMedium9.2 Reporting, feedback and control 

systems

-Medium9.3 Documentation and records

-High10.1 Energy cost performance in the past 

12 months

-Medium10.2 Auditing progress

% Achievement : 30% % required to reach next Star level : +17%Overall Ranking : 2 Stars

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 4 of 7.



Critical Element Explanations

Demonstrated corporate commitment

Evaluates the extent to which senior management has shown that energy management matters, 

and how effectively this attitude is communicated. A feature of every successful management 

program is commitment and leadership from top management. This means that senior 

management, right to CEO and Board level, demonstrate that energy management matters in the 

organization, communicate this effectively, and ensure that results are achieved. This section 

evaluates how effectively these goals have been accomplished. Most organizations with 

successful programs have a written energy policy that incorporates clear objectives for 

improvement in energy performance. The best policies reflect real action; the worst are statements 

of wishful thinking. This is why we focus on policies being linked to practical implementation plans 

and delivery.

Understanding of performance and opportunities

Evaluates the level of understanding of current energy performance, and the risks and 

opportunities associated with "best practice". Effective organizations need a baseline measure of 

current energy performance. This is essential to understanding the importance of energy costs in 

operations, to prioritize actions, and as a basis for comparison to identify gains made. Initial 

estimates of the scale of savings opportunities will come from benchmarking against other similar 

operations and through detailed technical evaluation of process.

Accountabilities

Assesses whether you have the right people accountable for managing energy costs and the 

extent to which these people have their role formalized. This is a key problem area in many energy 

management programs. The One-2-Five® Energy approach is to ensure major energy users 

become accountable for their own energy use and have the tools to do this effectively. An early 

step in many programs is to appoint a site engineer to the role of "energy manager". In such a 

role, the person typically has all the responsibility and little authority over usage. This is not only a 

thankless task but also relatively ineffective in achieving change, once the simple technical waste 

projects have been implemented. A process driven by end user operations is more effective.

Criteria/Budgets for capital expenditure (CAPEX)

Evaluates the effectiveness of management processes for allocating capital funds to energy 

projects. It is quite common in practice (if not principle) for organizations to require energy 

management projects to achieve higher returns (shorter pay-backs) than operational projects (like 

increasing output or introducing a new product). Effective organizations recognize that energy 

savings projects have the same value as other projects when assessed against the company's 

investment criteria, and that they often involve far less risk. This element also tests whether energy 

efficiency assessments are conducted for major new projects. As greenhouse gas emissions and 

energy-related pollution become more important, effective organizations will assess these 

emerging risks and may vary hurdle rates for projects with major impacts in these areas.

Reporting, feedback and control systems

Once you can effectively measure energy use, the next step is to manage the information for 

effective reporting and feedback systems, ensuring that variances are acted on by the appropriate 

people. This element tests your systems, and ties in quite closely with accountabilities. In practice, 

it seems that the best way to design effective reporting and feedback systems is to make sure 

accountabilities are correctly established and operations people are using the information to 

design their own reports. This is very different from the traditional engineering approach, which 

seeks to measure all the major variables, then tries to work out how to use the trend information.

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 5 of 7.



Recommended Actions

How to use the Recommended Actions Report

The Recommended Actions are based on the Critical Elements identified in your Diagnostic 

Results. Progressing to the next level of development in any Critical Element may require 

several actions to be initiated. Actions should be targeted for completion as soon as possible 

(preferably within 90 days).

We suggest that these actions be used to develop an action plan, which includes clear activity 

statements and goals, plus resource assignment and a schedule for completion.

After completing some or all of your Recommended Actions you can reassess your progress by 

running another diagnostic session. One-2-Five Energy will then recalculate your Star Rating, 

Critical Elements and generate a new set of associated Recommended Actions. Note that 

addressing the Critical Elements via these actions is likely to contribute to progression in other 

elements.

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 6 of 7.



Recommended Actions for Critical Elements from this Diagnostic

Recommended Actions

1. Criteria/Budgets for capital expenditure (CAPEX)

a) Work with the organization's financial representatives so that energy projects are assessed with 

same financial hurdle rate as other projects in allocating capital expenditures.

2. Understanding of performance and opportunities

a) Establish the energy use per unit of output for each major energy system (e.g. HVAC, elevators).

b) Establish the potential energy savings for each major energy system (e.g. HVAC, elevators).

c) Compare the energy performance of your plants/facilities against each other.

3. Demonstrated corporate commitment

a) Bring energy costs to the attention of management. Emphasize that energy costs are controllable 

and are not a fixed overhead cost. If not already the case, list each energy stream as a separate 

line item in budgets.

4. Reporting, feedback and control systems

a) Generate monthly reports depicting overall energy use per unit of activity (e.g. kWh per area) and 

examine results where they show large cost or usage variance from target.

5. Accountabilities

a) Select one person to be responsible for energy management in each of your plants/facilities.

January 07, 2011

Copyright 1998-2001 ENVINTA.Visit One-2-Five Energy - www.one-2-five.com

Page 7 of 7.



Benchmarking Report
for

City of Menasha

Diagnostic Review Completed: Tuesday, December 07, 2010

Compared to the One-2-Five Energy International Benchmarking Database on: Monday, January 10, 2011

Benchmarking reports can be accessed in real time at www.envinta.com.

There are currently:

Industry Sector Local Government Administration 103 sites
Government Administration 147 sites
Government Administration and Defence 158 sites

Country USA 1620 sites
Total 2610 sites

Your site number and password are required to access benchmarking reports.

Site Number: WEE_0042
Password: ZhHMfmCd



City of Menasha 
Industry Sector: Local Government Administration
This Site's International Benchmark Rating is 1.39

One-2-Five Star Rating is 2 stars
 

Rating

This Site Industry Sector Country All Sites
 

 
  Industry Sector Country All Sites  
 
  Rating Rating Rating  
 
  Maximum Score 3.72 4.69 4.94  
  Average Score 1.19 1.38 1.45  
  Minimum Score 0.21 0.00 0.00  
 



Local Government Administration
 

  Element
Level of Development Below Critical

Actions

YTQ Bronze  Silver  Gold Platinum Average Your
Site

% of
sites

1.1Demonstrated corporate commitment X C 58.3
2.1Understanding of performance and opportunities   C 57.3

3.1
Targets, performance indicators (KPI) and
motivation     60.2

3.2Plans X   24.3
4.1Accountabilities X C 39.8
4.2Awareness and training X   50.5
4.3Resourcing X   18.4
5.1Criteria/Budgets for capital expenditure (CAPEX) X C 9.7
5.2Energy operating budgets     2.9

6.1
Purchasing procedures and alternative energy
options     10.7

6.2Quality and reliability of supply     1.9
6.3Optimizing purchasing within supply agreement X   12.6
7.1Operating procedures X   12.6
7.2Maintenance procedures     4.9
8.1Efficiency of existing plant design     5.8

8.2
Procedures - plant design/retrofit,
purchasing/replacement X   14.6

8.3 Innovation and new technology     7.8
9.1Metering and monitoring     34.0
9.2Reporting, feedback and control systems X C 50.5
9.3Documentation and records     5.8

10.1Energy cost performance in the past 12 months     0.0
10.2Auditing progress     17.5
 

Legend
Site Practices Industry Best Practice Average Industry Practice



USA
 

  Element
Level of Development Below Critical

Actions

YTQ Bronze  Silver  Gold Platinum Average Your
Site

% of
sites

1.1Demonstrated corporate commitment X C 52.7
2.1Understanding of performance and opportunities   C 65.2

3.1
Targets, performance indicators (KPI) and
motivation     58.1

3.2Plans X   35.6
4.1Accountabilities X C 36.8
4.2Awareness and training X   44.5
4.3Resourcing X   12.2
5.1Criteria/Budgets for capital expenditure (CAPEX) X C 6.3
5.2Energy operating budgets     2.8

6.1
Purchasing procedures and alternative energy
options X   9.4

6.2Quality and reliability of supply     3.7
6.3Optimizing purchasing within supply agreement X   10.3
7.1Operating procedures X   18.0
7.2Maintenance procedures     7.6
8.1Efficiency of existing plant design     4.3

8.2
Procedures - plant design/retrofit,
purchasing/replacement X   7.8

8.3 Innovation and new technology X   3.0
9.1Metering and monitoring     47.2
9.2Reporting, feedback and control systems X C 50.2
9.3Documentation and records X   3.3

10.1Energy cost performance in the past 12 months     0.0
10.2Auditing progress     20.3
 

Legend
Site Practices Country Best Practice Average Country Practice



Local Government Administration
The average International Benchmark Rating is 1.20

 

No. of
Sites    

50

40

30

20

10

0

46
49

5 3
0

 
 
  Star Rating (Industry Sector)
 

 
Legend

Your site Other sites



All Sites
The average International Benchmark Rating is 1.50

 

No. of
Sites    

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

660

1534

303
92 18

 
 
  Star Rating (All Sites)
 

 
Legend

Your site Other sites



National Complete Streets Coalition
www.completestreets.org

COMPLETE STREETS
POLICY ANALYSIS 2010

A STORY OF GROWING STRENGTH



This report was written by Stefanie Seskin, with contributions from Barbara McCann. Peter 
Lagerwey, John LaPlante, Randy Neufeld, Sharon Roerty, and Michael Ronkin provided 
invaluable insight in the development of this report. We owe Krystle Okafor many thanks for 
her assistance. Of course, our greatest gratitude goes to everyone, in communities across the 
country, who have helped support, develop, and adopt Complete Streets policies.

This report was made possible through ongoing support from the National Complete 
Streets Coalition Steering Committee and Partners.

STEERING COMMITTEE

PARTNERS

National Complete Streets Coalition
1707 L St NW, Suite 1050 • Washington, DC 20036
202-955-5543 • info@completestreets.org
www.completestreets.org

AARP
Active Living By Design
Alliance for Biking & Walking
America Bikes
America Walks
American Council of the Blind
American Planning Association
American Public Transportation Association
American Society Of Landscape Architects
Association Of Pedestrian and Bicycle 
Professionals
City of Boulder

Institute of Transportation Engineers
League of American Bicyclists
National Association of Area Agencies on Aging
National Association of City Transportation 
Officials
National Association of Realtors
National Center for Bicycling and Walking
Ryan Snyder Associates
Safe Routes to School National Partnership
Smart Growth America
SvR Design Company
Transportation for America

Abonmarche
Alta Planning + Design
American Institute of Architects
American Public Works Association
Ball Janik, LLP
Beckett and Raeder
Bicycle Solutions
Bikes Belong Coalition
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of 
Minnesota

Broadreach Planning & Design
Brown & Mitchell, Inc.
Fehr & Peers
Fitzgerald and Halliday, Inc.
Freese and Nichols, Inc.

Gresham, Smith and Partners
Johnson, Mirmiran & Thompson, Inc.
Kimley-Horn and Associates
Kittelson and Associates, Inc.
KTU + A Planning + Landscape 
Architecture

Linscott, Law & Greenspan, Engineers
LJB, Inc.
M-E Companies
Martin/Alexiou/Bryson, P.C.
MIG, Inc.
North Country Healthy Heart 
Network, Inc.

Patti Banks Associates
PedNet Coalition

Qk4
RBA Group, Inc.
Rick Engineering Company
RPM Transportation Consultants, LLC
Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality 
Management District

SRAM Corporation
Synergy, LLC
T.Y. Lin International
Toole Design Group
Urban Engineers
Vanasse Hangen Brustlin, Inc.
Whitman, Requardt and Associates, 
LLP

2

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary 4

Introduction 7

About this Document 8

What Is a Complete Streets Policy? 9

Policy Adoption Accelerates 9

Using the Report 10

Analyzing Policy Language 10

A Note about Comprehensive Plans and Design Guidance 10

Analyzing Each Element
Vision 13

All Users and Modes 15

Network 16

Jurisdiction 16

Phases 17

Exceptions 18

Design 18

Context Sensitivity 19

Performance Measures 20

Implementation Plans 20

Bringing It All Together: Top Scores 23

Conclusion 26

Methodology 28

Appendix: Policy Analysis

3



4

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
In the last few years, dozens of towns, counties, regions, and states looked at their streets 
and realized they could be something more. These communities joined a growing nationwide 
movement coalesced around a simple idea: our streets should work for everyone, of all ages 
and abilities, regardless of how they travel. This simple idea is “Complete Streets.”

The power of the Complete Streets movement is that it fundamentally redefines what a 
street is intended to do, what goals a transportation agency is going to meet, and how the 
community will spend its transportation money. It breaks down the traditional separation 
of ‘highways,’ ‘transit,’ and ‘biking/walking,’ and instead focuses on the desired outcome of a 
transportation system that supports safe use of the roadway for everyone, by whatever 
means they are traveling. 

This report celebrates and documents the rapid growth of Complete Streets policy 
adoption and provides a standard analysis of the content of the more than 200 written 
policies adopted before January 1, 2011. It highlights those policies that come closest to 
achieving the ‘ideal’ of our ten policy elements. Our purpose in issuing this report is to 
provide jurisdictions looking to adopt new policies with guidance and plenty of examples.

Policy Adoption Accelerates
Complete Streets policy adoption has been accelerating rapidly, 
with the number of communities adopting policies roughly doubling 
each of the last three years. More than 200 policies were in place 
by the end of 2010, directing transportation professionals to begin 
transforming their transportation networks into Complete Streets. 

While almost half the states (23) have some form of Complete 
Streets policy, communities of all sizes and types have adopted 
policies. Suburban communities of fewer than 30,000 people make 
up the largest percentage of adopters by size and location. Small 
towns, often in rural areas, are well represented, with about one-
fifth of policies adopted by these smaller jurisdictions. State and regional policies have often encouraged 
adoption of policies at lower levels of government.

Policy adoption is also remarkably widespread, with at least one policy adopted in 46 states by the end of 
2010. Heightened activity is evident in a few states and regions, including Minnesota, Michigan, and California, 
where a state law is beginning to require inclusion of Complete Streets in general plan updates.

Policies at All Levels Policies of All Types



5

The Strongest Policies
The National Complete Streets Coalition tracks all kinds of policies that seek to set a community’s intent to 
fully provide for the needs of everyone using the roadways. Over one-third of all Complete Streets policies 
adopted are expressed through relatively simple resolutions, and approximately one-quarter are laws or 
ordinances. Internal policies, expressed through top-level departmental objectives, made up about 12% of all 
policies, and 14% are contained inside planning documents such has comprehensive plans. 

We grouped our evaluation of policies by type, to allow apples-to-apples comparisons. The policies that 
received the top overall scores by jurisdiction size and type can be found on page 23. A full listing of the 
scores of the more than 200 policies analyzed can be found in the appendix. 

Our analysis focused around the ten elements that the National Complete Streets Coalition has determined 
should be part of an ‘ideal’ Complete Streets policy. Though the concept of “Complete Streets” is itself 
simple and inspiring, the Coalition has found, through research and practice, that a policy must do more than 
simply affirm support for Complete Streets. The ten elements refine the vision, provide clear direction and 
intent, are accountable to a community’s needs, and grant the flexibility in design and approach necessary to 
secure an effective Complete Streets process and outcome.

We provide a clear explanation of each policy element, and list example policies that show particular 
strength in an element.. The most notable overall finding is that very few policies meet the standard 
for an ideal policy when it comes to spelling out clear implementation steps. This may be of concern as 
communities move from adopting paper policies to putting projects on the ground. This analysis is based 
purely on what has been written on paper and is not intended to reflect the degree to which any given 
community is successful in implementing its Complete Streets goals.



6

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Implications for Future Policy Adoption and Federal Action

Americans who live in cities and towns, north and south, east and west, have a strong interest in ensuring 
that transportation investments provide for the safe travel of everyone using the road.

This report demonstrates an enormous effort to use Complete Streets policies to re-orient long-standing 
transportation policies so to better provide roadways that are safe for everyone and help communities 
meet a variety of challenges facing them in the 21st century. While opinion polls show that voters want 
infrastructure investments to create safe streets for their children, we know the commitment runs much 
deeper. Elected officials, advocates, and transportation practitioners have spent months and even years 
crafting each of the policies analyzed in this report.

Policies at several levels of government can take the burden off any one to accomplish all the process and 
procedure changes necessary for successful implementation of Complete Streets.

Implementation of Complete Streets can require changes to a number of documents, processes, and 
mechanisms currently in place. When each level of government works toward the same vision, those 
changes can be implemented more gradually and with greater regional coordination. Many communities 
adopting local policies have expressed their support for inclusion of a Complete Streets policy in the next 
federal transportation bill that would cover federal transportation investments.

States have a leadership role to play in providing guidance on Complete Streets.
Localities look to the state to provide examples of policy language, but also how to effectively create 
Complete Streets. Outreach from the New Jersey and Wisconsin Departments of Transportation have 
helped not only their district departments, but also locals, understand the more technical and process 
details to Complete Streets.

Top Policies

New Jersey Department of Transportation – Policy No. 703
Louisiana Department of Transportation – Complete Streets Policy
State of Minnesota – Statutes 174.75
State of Connecticut – Public Act 09-154
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission – Complete Streets Policy
Bloomington/Monroe County, IN Metropolitan Planning Organization – Complete Streets Policy
Hennepin County, MN – Complete Streets Policy
Lee County, FL – Resolution No. 09-11-13
Salt Lake County, UT – Ordinance No. 1672
Crystal City, MO – Ordinance
Roanoke, VA – Complete Streets Policy
Missoula, MT – Resolution No. 7473
Herculaneum, MO – Ordinance No. 33-2010
New Haven, CT – Complete Streets Design Manual
Tacoma, WA – Complete Streets Design Guidelines



7

INTRODUCTION
In 2010, over 80 towns, counties, regions, and states looked at their streets and realized they could be 
something more. They joined a growing nationwide movement coalesced around a simple idea: our 
streets should work for everyone, of all ages and abilities, regardless of how they travel. This simple idea is 
“Complete Streets.”

The power of the term Complete Streets is that it fundamentally redefines what a street is intended to do, 
what goals a transportation agency is going to meet, and how the community will spend its transportation 
money. It breaks down the traditional separation of ‘highways,’ ‘transit,’ and ‘biking/walking,’ and instead focuses 
on the desired outcome of a transportation system that supports safe use of all modes, as appropriate.

To date, more than 200 communities have formally adopted a written Complete Streets policy, one that 
aims to change the traditional transportation paradigm from “moving cars quickly” to “providing safe access 
for all modes.”

The National Complete Streets Coalition supports communities as they develop, adopt, and implement 
Complete Streets policies. As part of this work, we promote a comprehensive policy model that includes ten 
elements. Though the concept of “Complete Streets” is itself simple and inspiring, the Coalition has found, 
through research and practice, that a policy must do more than simply affirm support for Complete Streets. 
The ten elements refine the vision, provide clear direction and intent, are accountable to a community’s 
needs, and grant the flexibility in design and approach necessary to establish an effective Complete Streets 
process and outcome.

Elements of an Ideal Complete Streets Policy

•	 Includes a vision for how and why the community wants to complete its streets

•	 Specifies that ‘all users’ includes pedestrians, bicyclists, and transit passengers of all ages 
and abilities, as well as trucks, buses and automobiles.

•	 Encourages street connectivity and aims to create a comprehensive, integrated, connected 
network for all modes.

•	 Is understood by all agencies to cover all roads.

•	 Applies to both new and retrofit projects, including design, planning, maintenance, and 
operations, for the entire right of way.

•	 Makes any exceptions specific and sets a clear procedure that requires high-level approval.

•	 Directs the use of the latest and best design criteria and guidelines while recognizing the 
need for flexibility in balancing user needs.

•	 Directs that complete streets solutions will complement the context of the community.

•	 Establishes performance standards with measurable outcomes.

•	 Includes specific next steps for implementation of the policy.



8

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

About This Document
In the two years since we completed the policy analysis included in an appendix to the AARP Public Policy 
Institute’s Planning Complete Streets for an Aging America, the total number of policies has skyrocketed: we 
now know of more than twice the number of policies first analyzed. Given the more nuanced understanding 
we have about good policy elements, and our newly launched project to measure how communities are 
moving from paper to practice, now is an ideal time to revisit our approach and align it with our new goals 
for Complete Streets policies nationwide.

Our new analysis method, described in the pages below, is based on the ten elements of an ideal Complete 
Streets policy developed in consultation with members of the National Complete Streets Coalition Steering 
Committee and our Workshop Instructors corps, as well as through what we learned in researching the 
American Planning Association report, Complete Streets: Best Policy and Implementation Practices. These 
elements come from decades of experience in transportation planning and design, reflecting a national 
model of best practice that can be employed in nearly all types of Complete Streets policy.

The intention of this document and accompanying charts is three-fold:

1.	 To Inspire Adoption of Strong Policies: We hope this tool will help inspire communities to look 
toward existing policy language that represents the best of each element. Utilizing this tool, along 
with other resources on the Coalition website, communities can build local capacity for policy 
development based on national best practice, while seeking policy language that best fits their region.

2.	 To Build a Stronger Movement: Sharing common experience and best practices is one of the 
most effective, and most-requested, ways the National Complete Streets Coalition is able to assist 
communities in their Complete Streets efforts. With this document, every community will have good, 
real-life examples of Complete Streets policies at their fingertips and every person involved in the 
movement will be well-equipped to suggest policy language based on current best practices.

3.	 To Motivate Implementation: Written policies have the power to catalyze on-the-ground action, 
and with good language, can inspire real change within a community’s approach to transportation. 
This document is the first of several tools the Coalition will make available to communities looking 
to adopt and institutionalize Complete Streets practices. Using these tools, communities can identify 
opportunities for strong policy and procedure change and begin their path to institutionalizing 
Complete Streets practices.

This analysis is based purely on what has been written on paper and is not intended to reflect the degree 
to which any given community is successful in implementing its Complete Streets goals. Creating change 
within a transportation agency’s procedures and processes, and translating those changes into on-the-ground 
work, will be investigated through other tools the Coalition is developing.



9

What Is a Complete Streets Policy?
Complete Streets policies formalize a community’s intent to plan, design, and maintain streets so they are 
safe for all users of all ages and abilities. Policies direct transportation planners and engineers to consistently 
design and construct the right-of-way to accommodate all anticipated users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, 
public transportation users, motorists, and freight vehicles.

Complete streets can be achieved through a variety of policies: ordinances and resolutions; rewrites 
of design manuals; inclusion in comprehensive plans; internal policies developed by transportation 
agencies; executive orders from elected officials, such as Mayors or Governors; and policies developed by 
stakeholders from the community and agency staff that are formally adopted by an elected board of officials. 
We group our evaluation of policies by type, to allow apples-to-apples comparisons.

Policy Adoption Accelerates
Complete Streets policy adoption has been accelerating rapidly, 
with the number of communities adopting policies roughly doubling 
each of the last three years. More than 200 policies were in place 
by the end of 2010, directing transportation professionals to begin 
transforming their transportation networks into Complete Streets. 

While almost half the states (23) have some form of Complete 
Streets policy, communities of all sizes and types have adopted 
policies.   Suburban communities of fewer than 30,000 people make 
up the largest percentage of adopters by size and location. Small 
towns, often in rural areas, are well represented, with about one-
fifth of policies adopted by these smaller jurisdictions. State and regional policies have often encouraged 
adoption of policies at lower levels of government.

Policy adoption is also remarkably widespread, with at least one policy adopted in 46 states by the end of 
2010. Heightened activity is evident in a few states and regions, including Minnesota, Michigan, and California, 
where a state law is beginning to require inclusion of Complete Streets in general plan updates.

Over one-third of all Complete Streets policies adopted are expressed through relatively simple resolutions, 
but nearly one-quarter are laws or ordinances. Internal policies, expressed through top-level departmental 
objectives, made up about 14% of all policies, and 13% are contained inside planning documents such has 
comprehensive plans.

The Complete Streets movement has been powered by diverse alliances that have brought together 
advocates for older Americans, public health agencies, transportation practitioners, bicycle advocates, and 
many others. Policies have been adopted as part of public health campaigns to create friendly environments 
for healthy physical activity; as a way to address pressing safety concerns; and as one answer to the need to 
create more sustainable communities, both environmentally and economically. 

Policies of All TypesPolicies at All Levels



10

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Using the Report
The main report includes listings of the strongest policies overall, as well as policies that show particular 
strength in a single element. They were determined using the numerical scores and weights shown in Table 1 
and described in the methodology on page 28. Within the report, you’ll find links so you can read the actual 
policies. The appendix lists the more than 200 policies analyzed, grouped by policy type and listed in order 
of their strength. We encourage readers to go beyond the limited number of policies named in the main 
report and use the appendix to look for policies in their own region, or policies that fit particular criteria.

Analyzing Policy Language
Each written policy was compared against the ten elements and awarded up to 5 points for how well it 
fulfilled each of the elements (see Table 1). This score was then weighted to emphasize the policy elements 
proven through research and Coalition member experience to be of more importance in a written policy. 
Upon further investigation into how policy elements influence implementation, we plan to revisit how each 
of our elements is weighted.  

Just as physical complete streets vary in form and facilities, we do recognize that there are inherent 
differences between policy types. What can be accomplished through a legislative act will be different than 
what might be included in a comprehensive plan, for example. We acknowledge that some elements of an 
ideal policy are unlikely to appear in some policy types and encourage comparison within policy type, rather 
than across all types. 

A Note about Comprehensive Plans and Design Guidance
In undergoing this rigorous analysis, we have found it does not work as well for comprehensive plans, where 
a finer analysis is needed to accurately determine strength and reach of the Complete Streets element 
within the overall framework of the plan. The tool is also inappropriate for simple design standards that 
include little information about the justification and goals of those designs for the community. In future 
analysis, we will not use this tool on either of these policy types.

Design manuals with more extensive discussion of policy fare a bit better with this tool, though their place 
within the transportation process makes the inclusion of some elements of an ideal Complete Streets 
policy inappropriate. Design guidance is rarely the first Complete Streets policy adopted in a community 
and is generally the realization of some earlier document and implementation effort. Thus, it is rare for 
these policies to have much additional guidance in implementation of the community’s Complete Streets 
vision. Scores from this policy analysis do not directly translate to a community’s success in achieving agency 
and on-the-ground change. When looking beyond what is on paper, the communities that have adopted 
Complete Streets design guidance are most often leaders in the Complete Streets movement. 



11

From Paper to Practice: Measuring Complete Streets Implementation 

This report focuses exclusively on the strength of the language used in Complete Streets policies. 
But adoption of a policy with strong language is only the first step – the policies must lead to 
changes inside of transportation agencies that then lead to project-level changes as transportation 
projects are designed for the safe use of bicyclists, transit users, and pedestrians of all ages and 
abilities. 

We know from our research and experience that full implementation requires agencies to 
undertake additional training of staff, as well as creation of new project development processes, 
design standards, and performance measures. Policies that look good on paper are of little value if 
they do not lead to change in practice and in projects on the ground.

Our next project is the design of an implementation assessment tool to aid advocates and 
practitioners in identifying and measuring the often behind-the-scenes changes that must take 
place within agencies in order for new priorities to be adopted and institutionalized. This tool will 
help the teams and agency officials that supported the initial policy adoption evaluate their success 
and determine their immediate next steps to ensure proper implementation takes place. It will 
also allow the Coalition to measure and report on how the jurisdictions that adopted the policies 
included in this report have met the promise of transforming their practices so they can begin to 
build complete streets.



12

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Element Details Points Weight

Vision max: 5 6
Indirect language – shall implement Complete Streets  principles, etc. 1

Average – direct statement, but some equivocating or weaker language (consider, may) 3

Strong – direct statement (must, shall, will) 5

All Users & Modes max: 5 20
Bicyclists and pedestrians (required for consideration) --

Plus transit 1

Plus transit and one more: motorists OR freight OR emergency 2

Plus transit and two more: motorists OR freight OR emergency 3

Plus all ages 1

Plus all abilities 1

Connectivity max: 5 2
Not mentioned or discussed 0

Acknowledge 5

Jurisdiction max: 5 8
Agency-owned (assumed for states, counties, and cities) --

States & regions: agency-funded, but not agency-owned 3

Counties & cities: privately-built roads 3

Plus recognizes need to work with other agencies 2

Phases max: 5 12
New construction only 0

New and retrofit/reconstruction projects 3

Plus clear application of policy to all projects, or specifically including repair/3R projects, 
maintenance, and/or operations

2

Exceptions max: 5 16
Not mentioned or listed 0

Lists exceptions, but at least one lacks clarity or allows loose interpretation 1

Lists exceptions, none are inappropriate 2

Plus approval process specified 3

Design max: 5 4
No mention (or policy is itself a design manual) 0

Plus references design criteria 3

Plus references balancing user needs 2

Context Sensitivity max: 5 8
Not mentioned or discussed 0

Acknowledge 5

Performance Standards max: 5 4
Not mentioned 0

Establishes new measures (does not count in next steps) 5

Implementation Plan max: 5 20
No implementation plan specified 0

Addresses implementation in general 1

Addresses two to four of our implementation steps 3

Plus assigns oversight of implementation (person or advisory board) OR establishes reporting 
requirement

1

Plus directs changes to project selection criteria 1

Table 1: Points per Policy Element and Weighted Points



13

ANALYZING EACH ELEMENT

Vision
States and communities are adopting Complete 
Streets policies for many reasons. For example, 
in Minnesota, many policies were spurred by a 
desire to improve safety for people walking and 
bicycling to their destinations and to encourage 
more walking and bicycling as a way to improve public health. In Connecticut, traffic safety inspired adoption 
of their state law.  In Hawaii and Puerto Rico, both of these factors, as well as a desire to ensure that people 
have alternatives to driving as they age, inspired the AARP state offices to actively engage in successful policy 
adoption campaigns. Safe Routes to School proponents also see Complete Streets as essential in providing 
complete, safe routes for children heading to school, sparking policy adoption in a number of towns 
and cities.  Many jurisdictions have adopted Complete Streets policies as part of their efforts to create 
environmentally sustainable communities.

A strong vision can inspire a community to follow through on its complete streets policy. Just as no two 
policies are alike, visions are not one-size-fits-all either. Because each community has its own valid vision that 
cannot be empirically compared across policies, for this criterion we looked to the core of the Complete 
Streets commitment – one that brings all users into the everyday planning, design, construction, and 
operation of transportation systems.

Intent
The strongest policies are those that are clear 
in intent, saying facilities that meet the needs of 
all types of travelers using the roadway “shall” or 
“must” be included in transportation projects. The 
‘strong’ label is also applied to policies in which 
the absolute intent of the policy is obvious and 
direct, even if they don’t use the words “shall” or 
“must”. Over time, this clear statement of intent 
becomes a guidepost. Clarity of intent and writing 
makes it easy for those tasked with implementation to understand the new goals and determine what 
changes need to be made fulfill the policy’s intent. These policies receive the full five points.

In contrast, some policies are indirect, referring to implementation of certain principles, features, or elements 
defined elsewhere, of general ‘Complete Streets’ application with no clear directive, or instructing the 
development of a more thorough policy document. Indirect language, even when the term ‘Complete 
Streets’ is included, does not clearly state the social norm change that is desired. Examples of indirect 
language include phrases such as “consider the installation of ‘Complete Streets’ transportation elements” 
and “supports the adoption and implementation of ‘Complete Streets’ policies and practices to create a 
transportation network that accommodates all users.” Using this language can perpetuate the separation of 
modes and the perception that a road for cars is fundamentally different from the road for other users, that 
only some roads should be “complete streets,” and even that these roads require special, separately funded 
“amenities”. For these reasons, policies with an indirect approach receive a total of one point. 

A third category, which we label as ‘average’, are clearer in their intent, defining what exactly a community 
expects from the policy, but using some equivocating language that waters down the directive. That is, the 
policy says that the needs of pedestrians and bicyclists “will be considered” or “may be included” as part of 
the process. ‘Average’ policies receive a total of three points.

“To create a safe and efficient transportation system 
that promotes the health and mobility of Decatur 
citizens and visitors, creating better access to 
businesses and neighborhoods.”

—Decatur, GA

“All street projects, including design, planning, 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, maintenance, or 
operations by the City of Charlottesville shall be 
designed and executed in a balanced, responsible and 
equitable way to accommodate and encourage travel 
by bicyclists, public transportation vehicles and their 
passengers, and pedestrians of all ages and abilities.”

—Charlottesville, VA



14

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Location Policy Year Link
Connecticut Public Act 09-154 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ct-legislation.pdf

California DOT Deputy Directive 64-R1 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ca-dotpolicy.pdf

Massachusetts DOT
Project Development and Design 
Guide

2006 http://www.mhd.state.ma.us/default.asp?pgid=content/designGuide&sid=about

Bloomington/Monroe County 
MPO
(Bloomington, IN area)

Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-in-bmcmpo-policy.pdf

Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 
Commission
(Columbus, OH area)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-oh-morpc-policy.pdf

Kauai County, HI Resolution No. 2010-48 Draft 1 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-hi-kauai-resolution.pdf

Salt Lake County, UT Ordinance No. 1672 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ut-slc-ordinance.pdf

Boulder, CO Transportation Master Plan 1996 http://www.completestreets.org/boulder-plan

Washington, DC DOT Departmental Order 06-2010 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-dc-dotpolicy.pdf

Seattle, WA Ordinance No. 122386 2007 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-wa-seattle-ordinance.pdf

Table 2: Policy Examples, Strong Intent

Does ‘Strong’ Mean ‘Litigatable’?

The National Complete Streets Coalition focuses on creating culture change, process change, and 
re-prioritization inside the sophisticated and established profession of transportation planning and 
engineering to ensure roads are designed, operated, and maintained for all users. The desire to 
‘force’ transportation engineers to behave differently has led some to advocate focusing on passing 
laws with binding, airtight language requiring accommodation. The palpable sense of frustration 
among some advocates is understandable; this seemingly simple concept has proven difficult to 
instill over several decades of advocacy.

Yet, in the realm of street design, engineers are the licensed professionals charged with safe and 
efficient operation of the transportation system. It is extremely difficult, and perhaps inappropriate, 
for elected officials to tread into the territory of prescriptive street design. Engineers are inherently 
problem solvers, and the best way to change their focus is to work with them to change the 
definition of the problem.

In our systems approach to Complete Streets, the redefinition of the problem is the purview of 
decision-makers, while the final approval of the designs to achieve the desired outcomes lies with 
the traffic engineers. We have found that a cooperative approach with street designers and traffic 
engineers is critical to effective policy implementation. Cultivating positive relationships and 
strategic partnerships inside the profession is a proven success of the National CompleteStreets 
Coalition.

We see systems change taking place in locations from California to North Carolina to the upper 
Midwest. Professionals in places with Complete Streets policies are building streets that have safe, 
convenient places for people to walk, bicycle, and catch the bus.

Based on this experience, we believe that the most effective Complete Streets laws or policies 
primarily engage decision makers in an appropriate role of setting a new standard of intent 
and defining desired outcomes, rather than attempting to force specific changes through an 
enforcement mechanism.



15

All Users and Modes
A Complete Streets policy must begin with an 
understanding that people who travel by foot or on 
bicycle are legitimate users of the transportation 
system and equally deserving of safe facilities to 
accommodate their travel. No policy is a Complete 
Streets policy without a clear statement affirming 
this fact, and it is a requirement to include both 
walking and bicycling in the policy before it can be 
further analyzed.

A safe walking and bicycling environment is essential to improving public transportation. Explicitly stating 
intention to provide for public transportation customers and transit vehicles of the transportation network 
opens new partnership and opportunities to create a transportation network that encourages healthy, active 
travel and reduces congestion. Recognizing this in the policy earns one point.

As full integration of these modes into everyday transportation planning and design is the desired outcome 
of a Complete Streets policy, we award additional points to communities that describe a fuller range of users 
to accommodate. These users can include motorists, drivers of commercial vehicles, emergency vehicles, 
equestrians, and the like. Adding one additional class of users beyond bicyclists, pedestrians, and public 
transportation customers and vehicles earns the policy a total of two points. Including two additional user 
groups earns the policy three points.

Beyond simply the category of users is a more nuanced understanding that not all people who move 
by a certain mode are the same. The needs of a father bicycling with a young child are different than 
those of a woman in her twenties speedily riding her bicycle to work. Older adults benefit from clear 
markings and signage when driving. People with low vision need audible and tactile stimuli to travel safely 
and independently, and those using wheelchairs need curb ramps and standard width sidewalks. An ideal 
Complete Streets policy considers this range of needs and recognizes the importance of planning and 
designing streets for all ages and abilities. For a reference to the needs of people young and old, the policy 
receives one additional point. For including people with disabilities, another point is awarded.

Location Policy Year Link
California Chapter 657, Statutes of 2008 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ca-legislation.pdf

Minnesota Minnesota Statutes 175.74 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-legislation.pdf

Massachusetts DOT
Project Development and Design 
Guide

2006 http://www.mhd.state.ma.us/default.asp?pgid=content/designGuide&sid=about

Fargo-Moorhead Metropolitan 
Council
(Fargo, ND area)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nd-fargomoorhead-policy.pdf

Madison Area Transportation 
Planning Board
(Madison, WI area)

Regional Transportation Plan 2030 2006 http://www.madisonareampo.org/planning/regionalplan.cfm

Hennepin County, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-hennepincounty-policy.pdf

Montgomery County, MD County Code, Chapter 49 2007 http://www.montgomerycountymd.gov/code

Scottsdale, AZ Transportation Master Plan 2008 http://www.scottsdaleaz.gov/traffic/transmasterplan

Babylon, NY Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ny-babylon-policy.pdf

Airway Heights, WA Ordinance C-720 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-wa-airwayheights-ordinance.pdf

Table 3: Policy Examples, All Users and Modes

“To ensure that the safety and convenience of all users 
of the transportation system are accommodated, 
including pedestrians, bicyclists, users of mass 
transit, people with disabilities, the elderly, 
motorists, freight providers, emergency responders, 
and adjacent land users…”

—Bloomington-Monroe County MPO, IN



16

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Network
To truly enable safe travel by all modes, a network supporting 
their movement is necessary. An ideal Complete Streets policy 
recognizes the need for more than one or two “complete” streets, 
aiming instead for a connected, integrated network that provides 
transportation options to a resident’s many potential destinations. 
A network approach is essential in balancing the needs of all users. 
Rather than trying to make each street perfect for every traveler, 
communities can create an interwoven array of streets that emphasize different modes and provide quality 
accessibility for everyone. Acknowledging the importance of a network approach earns the full five points. 
Additional discussion of connectivity in a policy is encouraged.

Jurisdiction
Creating complete streets networks is difficult because many agencies control our streets. They are built 
and maintained by state, county, and local agencies, and private developers often build new roads. Typical 
Complete Streets policies cover only one jurisdiction’s roadways.

State policy can have an effect on roads outside the state network, and, policies issued by metropolitan 
planning organizations, which control no roadways, can also have an effect on member jurisdictions by 
directing that any funds awarded through their programs must comply with the Complete Streets policy. 
This means that money a state issues to localities for roadway projects is tied to the state’s commitment 

to providing for all users, and funds that are allocated 
through a regional body are expected to meet Complete 
Streets requirements. When a policy clearly notes that 
projects receiving money passing through these agencies 
is expected to follow a Complete Streets approach, the 
policy is given three points.

At the local level, it is often key for private developers to follow a community’s Complete Streets vision 
when building new roads or otherwise significantly altering the right-of-way. Policies that must be applied in 
private development receive three points.

At any level, it is important to note that partnerships with other agencies are important to creating a truly 
multimodal network within and between communities. Policies that articulate the need to work with others 
in achieving the Complete Streets vision receive two additional points.

“It shall be a goal of the city to foster partnerships with the State of Missouri, Jefferson County, 
neighboring communities, and Festus Business Districts in consideration of functional facilities and 
accommodations in furtherance of the city’s complete streets policy and the continuation of such 
facilities and accommodations beyond the city’s borders.”

—Festus, MO

“Provide a dense, interconnected 
network of local and collector streets 
that supports walking, bicycling, and 
transit use, while avoiding excessive 
traffic in residential neighborhoods.”

—Champaign, IL

“MORPC requires that all projects receiving 
MORPC-attributable federal funding adhere 
to this policy.”

—Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Organization



17

Phases
The ideal result of a Complete Streets policy is 
that all transportation improvements are viewed 
as opportunities to create safer, more accessible 
streets for all users. A strong Complete Streets 
policy will integrate complete streets planning 
into all projects beyond new construction and 
reconstruction, and direct application of a Complete Streets approach to rehabilitation, repair, major 
maintenance, and operations work. Under this approach, even small projects can be an opportunity to 
make meaningful improvements. In repaving projects, for example, an edge stripe can be shifted to create 
more room for cyclists. In routine work on traffic lights, the timing can be changed to better accommodate 
pedestrians walking at a slower speed. Policies that clearly apply to more than new construction and 
reconstruction projects receive all five points.

Many policies apply to both new construction and reconstruction projects, which are generally the larger 
transportation projects undertaken in a community. These policies receive two points. Comprehensive plans, 
master plans, and long range plans that are ambiguous about project applicability also receive two points 
because the assumption is that such plans will apply to at least new construction and reconstruction.

Policies that do not apply to projects beyond newly constructed roads will not create networks of 
complete streets across the community or take advantage of the many opportunities for creating a better 
environment for all travelers when undertaking other transportation projects. These policies, or ones that 
are not clear regarding their application, receive no additional points for addressing phases.

Location Policy Year Link
Connecticut Public Act 09-154 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ct-legislation.pdf

Louisiana DOTD Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-la-dotpolicy.pdf

New Jersey DOT Policy No. 703 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nj-dotpolicy.pdf

Fargo-Moorhead Metropolitan 
Council

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nd-fargomoorhead-policy.pdf

Mid-Ohio Regional Planning  
Commission (Columbus, OH)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-oh-morpc-policy.pdf

Prince George’s County, MD Master Plan of Transportation 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-md-princegeorges-plan.pdf

Richland County, SC
Complete Streets Program Goals and 
Objectives

2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-sc-richland-policy.pdf

Bozeman, MT Resolution No. 4244 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mt-bozeman-resolution.pdf

Crystal City, MO Ordinance 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mo-crystalcity-ordinance.pdf

Lee’s Summit, MO Resolution No. 10-17 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mo-leessummit-resolution.pdf

Table 4: Policy Examples, Jurisdiction

Table 5: Policy Examples, Phases
Location Policy Year Link

Colorado DOT
Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy and 
Procedural Directive

2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-co-dotpolicy.pdf

Hawaii Act 054 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-hi-legislation.pdf

North Carolina DOT Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nc-dotpolicy.pdf

Northwestern Indiana Regional 
Planning Commission
(Portage, IN)

Complete Streets Guidelines 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-in-nirpc-policy.pdf

Las Cruces, NM MPO Resolution 08-10 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nm-lascrucesmpo-resolution.pdf

Ada County, ID Highway District Resolution No. 895 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-id-adacounty-policy.pdf

Rochester, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-rochester-policy.pdf

Babylon, NY Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ny-babylon-policy.pdf

Nashville, TN Executive Order No. 40 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-tn-nashville-order.pdf

Seattle, WA Ordinance No. 122386 2007 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-wa-seattle-ordinance.pdf

“The California Department of Transportation 
provides for the needs of travelers of all ages and 
abilities in all planning, programming, design, 
construction, operations, and maintenance activities 
and products on the State highway system.”

—California Department of Transportation



18

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Exceptions
Making a policy work in the real world requires 
developing a process to handle exceptions to 
providing for all modes in each project. There 
must be a balance achieved when specifying 
these in policy language so that the needed 
flexibility for legitimate exceptions does not also 
create large loopholes. The strongest policies set 
out clear responsibility and a clear process for 
granting exceptions.

The Coalition believes the following exceptions 
are appropriate with limited potential to weaken 
the policy. They follow the Federal Highway 
Administration’s guidance on accommodating 
bicycle and pedestrian travel and identified best 
practices frequently used in existing Complete 
Streets policies.

1.	 Accommodation is not necessary on corridors where specific users are prohibited, such as interstate 
freeways or pedestrian malls.

2.	 Cost of accommodation is excessively disproportionate to the need or probable use. We do 
not recommend attaching a percentage to define “excessive” as the context for many projects 
will require different portions of the overall project budget to be spent on the modes and users 
expected; additionally, in many instances the costs may be difficult to quantify. A 20% cap may be 
appropriate in unusual circumstances, such as where natural features (e.g. steep hillsides, shorelines) 
make it very costly or impossible to accommodate all modes. A 20% figure should always be used in 
an advisory rather than absolute sense.

3.	 A documented absence of current and future need.

Many communities have included other exceptions that the Coalition, in consultation with transportation 
planning and engineering experts, also feels are unlikely to create loopholes:

1.	 Transit accommodations are not required where there is no existing or planned transit service.

2.	 Routine maintenance of the transportation network that does not change the roadway geometry or 
operations, such as mowing, sweeping, and spot repair. 

3.	 Where a reasonable and equivalent project along the same corridor is already programmed to 
provide facilities exempted from the project at hand.

We believe the primary objective of Complete Streets is to provide safe accommodation for all users of the 
transportation network. Additional exceptions begin to weaken this goal and may create loopholes too large 
to achieve the Complete Streets vision. Engineers and project managers are talented and creative problem-
solvers and should be able to address project-level barriers in ways that still achieves an environment 
supportive of all users.

In addition to defining exceptions through good policy language, there must be a clear process for granting 
them. We recommend a senior-level department head, publicly accountable committee, or a board of 
elected officials be charged with approving exceptions. Doing so ensures that as a policy moves into 
implementation, its intent is carried out and no exceptions are abused. Policies that note how exceptions are 
to be granted earn an additional three points.

“Any exception to applying this Complete Streets 
Policy to a specific roadway project must be approved 
by the City Council, with documentation of the 
reason for the exception.
…Exceptions may be made when:
•	 The project involves a roadway on which non-

motorized use is prohibited by law. In this 
case, an effort shall be made to accommodate 
pedestrians and bicyclists elsewhere.

•	 There is documentation that there is an absence 
of use by all except motorized users now and 
would be in the future even if the street were a 
complete street.”

—Missoula, MT



19

Design
Communities adopting a Complete 
Streets policy should use the best and 
latest design standards available to them, 
including existing design guidance from the 
American Association of State Highway 
Officials (AASHTO), state Departments of 
Transportation, the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers, the National Association of City 
Transportation Officials, the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, and the Public Right-of-Way 
Accessibility Guidelines (PROWAG). In some 
cases, communities will use their own recently 
updated design guidance or augment it with 
national criteria. Policies that make direct use of the latest criteria receive three points.

Intertwined with the need to use the best currently available guidance is the need for a balanced 
approach to transportation design that provides flexibility to tailor each project to unique circumstances. 
Transportation system balance recognizes the need for some roads to offer greater or lesser degrees of 
accommodation for each type of user, while still ensuring basic accommodation is provided for all permitted 
users. Policies that address the need for a balanced or flexible design approach receive two points toward 
the maximum of five. Additional discussion of design flexibility within the policy is encouraged.

Context Sensitivity
An effective complete streets policy must be sensitive 
to the community context. Being clear about this in the 
initial policy statement can allay fears that the policy will 
require inappropriately wide roads in quiet neighborhoods 
or miles of little-used sidewalks in rural areas. Including a 
statement about context can help align transportation goals and land use planning goals, creating livable, 
strong neighborhoods. Given the range of policy types and their varying ability to address this issue, a policy 
that mentions the need to be context-sensitive nets the full five points. Additional discussion of context-
sensitivity within the policy is encouraged.

Location Policy Year Link

Colorado DOT
Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy and 
Procedural Directive

2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-co-dotpolicy.pdf

Louisiana DOTD Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-la-dotpolicy.pdf

North Carolina DOT Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nc-dotpolicy.pdf

Bloomington/Monroe County 
MPO (Bloomington, IN)

Complete Steets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-in-bmcmpo-poliy.pdf

Madison County Council of 
Governments (Anderson, IN)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-in-mccog-policy.pdf

Cascade, IA Policy Statement 2006 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ia-cascade-policy.pdf

Ferndale, MI Ordinance No. 1101 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mi-ferndale-ordinance.pdf

Missoula, MT Resolution No. 7473 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mt-missoula-resolution.pdf

Dayton, OH Livable Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-oh-dayton-policy.pdf

Salt Lake City, UT Ordinance No. 04-10 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ut-slc-ordinance.pdf

Table 6: Policy Examples, Exceptions

“…to create a connected network of facilities accom-
modating each mode of travel that is consistent with and 
supportive of the local community, recognizing that all 
streets are different and that the needs of various users 
will need to be balanced in a flexible manner.
…The City will generally follow accepted or adopted 
design standards when implementing improvements 
intended to fulfill this Complete Streets policy but will 
consider innovative or non-traditional design options 
where a comparable level of safety for users is present.”

—Rochester, MN

“…in a manner that is sensitive to the local 
context and recognizes that the needs vary 
in urban, suburban, and rural settings.”

—Minnesota Statutes 174.75



20

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Performance Measures
Complete Streets planning requires taking a broader 
look at how well the system is serving all users. 
Communities with complete streets policies can 
measure success a number of different ways, from 
miles of bike lanes to percentage of the goal sidewalk 
network achieved to the number of people who 
choose to ride public transportation. Including any 
measure in a Complete Streets policy nets the full five 
points.

Implementation Plans
As communities sign on to their own 
Complete Streets visions, it is important 
for them to recognize that formal 
commitment to the approach is only the 
beginning. Taking a complete streets policy 
from paper into practice is not easy, but 
providing some momentum with specific 
implementation steps can help. The 
Coalition has identified four key steps to take for successful implementation of a policy:

1.	 Restructure or revise related procedures, plans, regulations, and other processes to accommodate all 
users on every project.

2.	 Develop new design policies and guides or revise existing to reflect the current state of best 
practices in transportation design. Communities may also elect to adopt national or state-level 
recognized design guidance.

3.	 Offer workshops and other training opportunities to planners and engineers so that everyone 
working on the transportation network understands the importance of the Complete Streets vision 
and how they can implement in their everyday work.

4.	 Develop and institute better ways to measure performance and collect data on how well the streets 
are serving all users.

Location Policy Year Link
Mid-America Regional Council
(Kansas City, MO)

Transportation Outlook 2040 2010 http://www.marc.org/2040/

Richland County, SC
Complete Streets Program Goals and 
Objectives

2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-sc-richland-policy.pdf

Arlington County, VA Master Transportation Plan 2007 http://www.completestreets.org/arlington-plan

Scottsdale, AZ Transportation Master Plan 2008 http://www.scottsdaleaz.gov/traffic/transmasterplan

Boulder, CO Transportation Master Plan 1996 http://www.completestreets.org/boulder-plan

Baltimore, MD Council Bill 09-0433 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-md-baltimore-resolution.pdf

Helena, MT Resolution No. 19799 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mt-helena-resolution.pdf

New York City, NY Sustainable Streets Strategic Plan 2008 http://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/html/about/stratplan.shtml

Charlotte, NC Urban Street Design Guidelines 2007 http://www.completestreets.org/charlotte-usdg

Roanoke, VA Complete Streets Policy 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-va-roanoke-policy.pdf

Table 7: Policy Examples, Performance Measures

“Complete Streets elements will be considered when 
developing, modifying and updating City plans, manuals, 
rules, regulations and programs…Design Standards should 
include performance measures for tracking the progress of 
implementation…train pertinent City staff on the content 
of the Complete Streets Guiding Principles and best 
practices for implementing the policy.”

—Las Cruces, NM

“Measure the success of this complete streets 
policy using the following performance measures:

a. Total miles of on-street bicycle routes defined 
by streets with clearly marked or signed bi-
cycle accommodation

b. Linear feet of new pedestrian accommodation
c. Number of new curb ramps installed along 

city streets
d. Number of new street trees planted along 

city streets”
—Roanoke, VA



21

Any recognition or discussion of the next steps to achieve Complete Streets is awarded one point. 
Specifying the need to take action on at least two of the four steps identified above nets three points.

Assigning oversight of or regularly reporting on implementation is critical to ensuring the policy becomes 
practice. Policies that identify a specific person or advisory board to oversee and help drive implementation, 
or policies that establish a reporting requirement receive an additional point.

Too often, great goals are set by communities only to be thwarted by mismatched prioritization procedures 
that give extra weight to auto-centric projects and award little or no points, and in some cases deduct 
points, for projects that enhance access or mobility for those on foot, riding bicycles, or taking public 
transportation. Though rare, policies that change the way transportation projects are prioritized, and thus 
chosen for construction, are awarded an additional point.

Location Policy Year Link
California DOT Deputy Directive 64-R1 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ca-dotpolicy.pdf

Minnesota Minnesota Statutes 175.74 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-legislation.pdf

New Jersey DOT Policy No. 703 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nj-dotpolicy.pdf

Puerto Rico Ley 201 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-pr-legislation.pdf

Bay Area Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission
(San Francisco, CA)

Regional Policy for the 
Accommodation of Non-Motorized 
Travelers

2006 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ca-mtc-policy.pdf

Lee County, FL Resolution No. 09-11-13 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-fl-leecounty-resolution.pdf

Hennepin County, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-hennepincounty-policy.pdf

Fort Collins, CO Trasnportation Master Plan 2004 http://www.fcgov.com/transportationplanning/tmp.php

Missoula, MT Resolution No. 7473 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mt-missoula-resolution.pdf

Kingston, NY Resolution 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ny-kingston-resolution.pdf

Table 8: Policy Examples, Implementation Plans



22

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Rural Areas and Small Towns

While sometimes overshadowed by their more urban counterparts, rural areas and small towns 
are increasingly using Complete Streets policies to articulate their vision for a modern, effective 
transportation network. These smaller communities are demanding streets offer the safety, access, 
and mobility achieved through a Complete Streets approach that recognizes the distinct character 
of rural roads and small town Main Street.

Rural communities and small towns benefit from Complete Streets policies that give them a 
voice in state transportation planning. Policies provide a systematic way for town leaders to 
exercise increased control in choosing the among 
transportation investment options that best fit their 
locale’s character and provide residents and visitors 
options in accessing jobs, shops, health care, and 
schools.

To date, towns outside urban areas represent nearly 
one in five of all communities adopting Complete 
Streets policies. And demand for Complete Streets 
outside of center cities is growing: in 2010 alone, 
17 smaller communities passed Complete Streets 
policies. Some examples are:

Sedro-Woolley, Washington (pop. 8,568) A small 
town in the North Cascades, Sedro-Woolley has 
a noted commitment to Complete Streets. City Council created a new section in its municipal 
code in June 2010 stating that bicycle and pedestrian ways shall be included in transportation 
projects and noting that such accommodations were not required where there was no identified 
need or where their cost would be excessively disproportionate. Sedro-Woolley’s city engineers 
are currently retrofitting the Fruitdale/McGarigle arterial road, adding school zone crosswalks, 
pavement markings, and ADA ramps.

Tupelo, Mississippi (pop. 34, 211) Charged with becoming the healthiest community in 
Mississippi, citizens and elected officials of Tupelo rallied around active transportation. “As we build 
out and redevelop our older commercial areas into walkable, mixed-use destinations, we will create 
a transportation network that fits the land use our residents want,” said Senior Planner Renee Ray. 
Our goal is to make sure that we achieve the goals our residents have asked for.”

Doña Ana County, New Mexico (pop. 174,682) Doña Ana County crafted a Complete 
Streets resolution that promotes multimodal travel while still retaining local color. They take a 
“context sensitive” approach to their streetscape, accommodating county seat, Las Cruces, and the 
numerous smaller communities that comprise the county. Their law even stipulates that streets will 
incorporate native plants, maintaining their traditional southwestern flair as they progress toward 
safer and more convenient travel.



23

BRINGING IT ALL TOGETHER: TOP SCORES
The following tables provide an easy reference to the five top-scoring policies by jurisdiction size and policy 
type. This will allow officials and citizens looking for good examples to quickly choose those that most closely 
match their jurisdiction type and the policy they are pursuing. No table is provided when we have less than 
ten examples of a policy type. Full details about the scores of these policies can be found in the appendix.

Location Policy Year Link
Minnesota Minnesota Statutes 175.74 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-legislation.pdf

Connecticut Public Act 09-154 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ct-legislation.pdf

Hawaii Act 054 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-hi-legislation.pdf

Puerto Rico Ley 201 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-pr-legislation.pdf

Michigan Public Act 135 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mi-legislation.pdf

Location Policy Year Link
New Jersey Policy No. 703 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nj-dotpolicy.pdf

Louisiana Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-la-dotpolicy.pdf

California Deputy Directive 64 R-1 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ca-dotpolicy.pdf

North Carolina Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nc-dotpolicy.pdf

Colorado Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-co-dotpolicy.pdf

Location Policy Year Link
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 
Commission (Columbus, OH)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-oh-morpc-policy.pdf

Bloomington/Monroe County 
MPO (Bloomington, IN)

Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-in-bmcmpo-policy.pdf

Fargo-Moorhead Metropolitan 
Council (Fargo, ND)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nd-fargomoorhead-policy..pdf

Madison County Council of 
Governments (Anderson, IN)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-in-madisoncountycog-policy.pdf

Wilmington Area Planning 
Council (Wilmington, DE)

Regional Transportation Plan 
2030 Update

2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-de-wilmapco-plan.pdf

Table 9: State Laws

Table 10: State Department of Transportation Policies

Table 11: Metropolitan Planning Organization Policies



24

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

Location Policy Year Link
Crystal City, MO Ordinance 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mo-crystalcity-ordinance.pdf

Herculaneum, MO Ordinance No. 33-2010 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mo-herculaneum-ordinance.pdf

DeSoto, MO Bill No. 45-08 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mo-desoto-ordinance.pdf

Seattle, WA Ordinance No. 122386 2007 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-wa-seattle-ordinance.pdf

Dexter, MI Ordinance No. 2010-05 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mi-dexter-ordinance.pdf

Location Policy Year Link
Missoula, MT Resolution No. 7473 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mt-missoula-resolution.pdf

Lee’s Summit, MO Resolution No. 10-17 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mo-leessummit-resolution.pdf

Bozeman, MT Resolution No. 4244 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mt-bozeman-resolution.pdf

Byron, MN Resolution 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-byron-resolution.pdf

Stewartville, MN Resolution 2010-32 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-stewartville-resolution.pdf

Location Policy Year Link
New York City, NY Sustainable Streets Strategic Plan 2008 http://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/html/about/stratplan.shtml

Fort Collins, CO Transportation Master Plan 2004 http://www.fcgov.com/transportationplanning/tmp.php

Scottsdale, AZ Transportation Master Plan 2008 http://www.scottsdaleaz.gov/traffic/transmasterplan

Champaign, IL Transportation Master Plan 2008 http://www.completestreets.org/champaign-plan

Boulder, CO Transportation Master Plan 1996 http://www.completestreets.org/boulder-plan

Location Policy Year Link
Lee County, FL Resolution No. 09-11-13 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-fl-leecounty-resolution.pdf

Doña Ana County, NM Resolution 09-114 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nm-donaanacounty-resolution.pdf

Salt Lake County, UT Ordinance No. 1672 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ut-saltlakecounty-ordinance.pdf

Monmouth County, NJ Resolution 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-nj-monmouth-resolution.pdf

Kauai, HI Resolution No. 2010-48 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-hi-kauai-resolution.pdf

Location Policy Year Link
Hennepin County, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-hennepincounty-policy.pdf

Ada County, ID ACHD Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-id-adacounty-policy.pdf

San Diego County, CA Transnet Tax Extension 2004 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ca-sandiegocounty-tax.pdf

Washtenaw County, MI
Non-Motorized Plan for 
Washtenaw County

2006 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mi-washtenaw-plan.pdf

Richland County, SC
Complete Streets Program Goals 
and Objectives

2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-sc-richland-policy.pdf

Table 12: County Ordinances and Resolutions

Table 13: Plans, Policies, and Tax Levies

Table 14: City Ordinances

Table 15: City Resolutions

Table 16: City Plans



25

Location Policy Year Link
Big Lake, MN Resolution No. 2010-74 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-biglake-policy.pdf

Festus, MO Resolution No. 3924 ½ 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-festus-policy,pdf

Rochester, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-mn-rochester-policy.pdf

Babylon, NY Complete Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ny-babylon-policy.pdf

Dayton, OH Livable Streets Policy 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-oh-dayton-policy.pdf

Location Policy Year Link
New Haven, CT Complete Streets Design Manual 2010 http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-ct-newhaven-manual.pdf

Tacoma, WA Complete Streets Guidelines 2009 http://www.cityoftacoma.org/Page.aspx?hid=11665

New York City, NY Street Design Manual 2009 http://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/html/about/streetdesignmanual.shtml

Louisville-Jefferson Metro, 
KY

Complete Streets Manual 2007 http://www.louisvilleky.gov/BikeLouisville/Complete+Streets/

Massachusetts
Project Development and Design 
Guide

2006 http://www.mhd.state.ma.us/default.asp?pgid=content/designGuide&sid=about

Charlotte, NC Urban Street Design Guidelines 2007 http://www.completestreets.org/charlotte-usdg

Knoxville, TN Regional TPO
Complete Streets Design 
Guidelines

2009 http://www.knoxtrans.org/plans/complete_streets/guidelines.pdf

San Diego, CA Street Design Manual 2002 http://www.sandiego.gov/planning/programs/transportation/library/stdesign.shtml

Table 17: City Policies

Table 17: Design Guidance, All Levels



26

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

CONCLUSION
Engaging in this process has allowed the Coalition to reflect on policy adoption and development, finding 
several themes to inform our continued work in this area.

Americans who live in cities and towns, north and south, east and west, have a strong interest in ensuring 
that transportation investments provide for the safe travel of everyone using the road.

This report demonstrates an enormous effort to use Complete Streets policies to re-orient long-standing 
transportation policies so to better provide roadways that are safe for everyone and help communities 
meet a variety of challenges facing them in the 21st century. While opinion polls show that voters want 
infrastructure investments to create safe streets for their children, we know the commitment runs much 
deeper. Elected officials, advocates, and transportation practitioners have spent months and even years 
crafting each of the policies analyzed in this report.

Stronger policies tend to be newer policies.
In a testament to the increased resources available regarding best practice in Complete Streets policy, 
such as the American Planning Association report Complete Streets: Best Policy and Implementation 
Practices, and ever expanding reach of the Complete Streets movement, most of the top-scoring policies 
were developed and adopted in 2009 and 2010.

This is partly due to a more encompassing integration of modes expressed in newer policies. Older 
policies do well with the core of Complete Streets – routine accommodation of pedestrians and 
bicyclists in transportation projects – but often do not explicitly acknowledge the needs of older adults 
and people with disabilities or the important role a Complete Streets policy can play in providing better 
accommodations for public transportation users and vehicles, and balancing those needs with automobiles 
and commercial vehicles. 

Additionally, it is much more common for newer policies to have established next steps in ensuring 
implementation of the policy’s vision. The transportation profession has paid increasing attention to 
accountability and performance in the past few years, so it is unsurprising that such concerns are reflected 
in new Complete Streets policies.

States have a leadership role to play in providing guidance on Complete Streets.
State policy provides a template for localities. When policy language is adopted at the state level, it is often 
mirrored in local documents, as is the case in several New Jersey localities.

State policy adoption is sometimes the prompt municipalities need to take action on their own. 
Communities may have reservations in pursuing a Complete Streets approach, fearing that without state 
support, they would be battling for approval on every project. When a state explicitly affirms its support 
for Complete Streets, and dedicates itself to providing support to localities, local policies multiply. In 
the months following the signing of a Complete Streets law in Minnesota, towns across the state began 
working on their own policies, even though the law specifically did not create a mandate for these 
communities to do so.

On the occasion where state policy has directly incentivized local policy adoption through reprioritizing 
funding, as is the case in Michigan, communities may respond with their own policies that explicitly state 
this desire to remain competitive for grants in addition to their general Complete Streets goals.

Localities look to the state to provide examples of policy language, but also how to effectively create 
Complete Streets. Outreach from the New Jersey and Wisconsin Departments of Transportation have 
helped not only their district departments, but also locals, understand the more technical and process 
details to Complete Streets. In California, the cities and counties subject to the changes made to planning 



27

requirements by the 2008 law look to guidance developed by the state Office of Planning and Research 
(OPR) on how to incorporate Complete Streets into their general plans. Only one Californian community 
did so before the OPR guidance, but several have begun work since the guidance was released in late 
2010.

Encouraging states to take on a leadership role will be vital in providing the support, from policy language 
to implementation, that localities need to achieve their Complete Streets visions.

Policies at several levels of government can take the burden off any one to accomplish all the process and 
procedure changes necessary for successful implementation of Complete Streets.

Implementation of Complete Streets can require changes to a number of documents, processes, and 
mechanisms currently in place. When each level of government works toward the same vision, those 
changes can be implemented more gradually and with greater regional coordination. Many communities 
adopting local policies have expressed their support for inclusion of a complete streets policy in the next 
federal transportation bill that would cover federal transportation investments.

In Sacramento, the city has established new design standards for its streets; the county has a voter-
approved tax levy to support construction of Complete Streets; the Metropolitan Planning Organization 
has provided resources, best practices, and training opportunities to member jurisdictions; the state 
Department of Transportation applies a Complete Streets approach on state-owned roadways; and 
the state legislature amended general plan requirements so that all jurisdictions can effectively plan for 
Complete Streets.

Metropolitan Planning Organizations have an important role, but few are stepping up to it.
To date, most Complete Streets policies at Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) are included 
in their long-range plans. However, the effectiveness of such plans to inform and direct development of 
Complete Streets varies wildly between MPOs, not to mention the effectiveness in bringing localities into 
the vision. MPOs adopting stand-alone policies that apply to projects funded through their TIPs tend to 
better meet our policy expectations and provide clarity on a day-to-day basis as projects move through 
concept, planning, design, and construction.

Existing policy is a common source for new policy.
Communities look to each other for guidance on policy language. Often, jurisdictions will look to their 
nearest neighbors for insight and inspiration, or to communities nationwide that share a specific trait, such 
as population size or climate. State policies are often replicated at the local level, and many look to the 
policy statement included in the Federal Highway Administration’s 2000 guidance, Accommodating Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Travel: A Recommended Approach.

The echoes of other policies are clear in the majority of policies adopted to date, with some tweaks. 
Making examples of strong policies available will be key in ensuring future policies are compelling and 
powerful.



28

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

METHODOLOGY
The National Complete Streets Coalition designed this analysis to be easily understood to a wide audience, 
both in outcome of application and in the application itself.

We analyzed all qualifying policies adopted before January 1, 2011 of which we were aware and for which 
we had confirmed policy language. Two hundred and nineteen policies were analyzed; a few places have 
adopted more than one policy type, such as Hennepin County, where a resolution was followed by the 
adoption of a detailed policy later that year.

Each element of an ideal Complete Streets policy, as already established by the Coalition, was given a 
possible total of 5, where 5 represents fulfillment of that ideal element. See above section for a discussion of 
how points are awarded. Awarding each element a total of 5 points made it simple to establish benchmarks 
in each category without drawing unnecessary comparisons between elements.

The Coalition believes that some elements of a policy are more important to establish than others. To 
reflect this, the tool uses a weighting system so that the points earned per element are then put in context 
of the overall policy.

The chosen weights began with a staff exercise and discussion around the elements, based on research, 
case studies conducted for the American Planning Association report, Complete Streets: Best Policy and 
Implementation Practices, experience in policy development, and work with communities across the country. 
These weights were then adjusted based on feedback from the Coalition’s Steering Committee and input 
from attendees of the Coalition’s 2011 Strategy Meeting. We simplified the weights so that they would a) 
add to a total possible score of 100 and b) would not require any complex mathematical tricks or rounding. 
We anticipate making changes to this weighting based on continued research into how policy language 
correlates to implementation.

The identified weight for each element is multiplied by points awarded, then divided by 5 (the highest 
possible number of points). For example, a policy that addresses bicycling, walking, and public transportation 
for people of all ages and abilities receives a total of 3 points. Those points are multiplied by 20, the 
weighting assigned to that policy element, and divided by 5, the highest possible number of points. For this 
policy element, the policy receives a score of 12 out of a possible 20.

When the scores for every element are summed, the policy will have a score between 0 and 100, with a 
higher number indicating it is closer to ideal.



COMPLETE STREETS
POLICY ANALYSIS 2010

A STORY OF GROWING STRENGTH

APPENDIX

National Complete Streets Coalition
www.completestreets.org



2

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

STATE LAW
Minnesota Statutes 174.75 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Connecticut Public Act 09-154 2009 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Hawaii Act 054 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Puerto Rico Ley 201 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Michigan Public Act 135 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

California Chapter 657, Statutes of 2008 2008 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 0 0 0 0.0

Rhode Island Chapter 31-18-21 1997 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Illinois Public Act 095-065 2007 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Wisconsin Statutes 1918gr. 84.01 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 0 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Massachusetts Chapter 90E 1996 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Colorado Statutes 43-1-120 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Oregon Revised Statutes 366.514 1971 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 4.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Vermont Chapter 23, Section 2310 2008 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Florida Statutes 335.065 1984 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Maryland Code § 2-602 2000 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

STATE RESOLUTION
South Carolina DOT Commission Resolution 2003 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

STATE INTERNAL POLICY
New Jersey Policy No. 703 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Louisiana Complete Streets Policy 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

California Deputy Directive 54-R1 2008 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

North Carolina Complete Streets Policy 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Colorado Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Pennsylvania
Design Manual Appendix J: 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Checklist

2007 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 1 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Virginia
Policy for Integrating Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Accommodations

2004 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Delaware Executive Order No. 6 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0



3
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 64.4 Minnesota Statutes 174.75

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 62.8 Connecticut Public Act 09-154

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 59.6 Hawaii Act 054

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 54.8 Puerto Rico Ley 201

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 54.4 Michigan Public Act 135

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 44.8 California Chapter 657, Statutes of 2008

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 33.2 Rhode Island Chapter 31-18-21

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 32.4 Illinois Public Act 095-065

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 30.8 Wisconsin Statutes 1918gr. 84.01

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 28.4 Massachusetts Chapter 90E

0 3 3 9.6 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 27.6 Colorado Statutes 43-1-120

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 25.2 Oregon Revised Statutes 366.514

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 24.4 Vermont Chapter 23, Section 2310

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 23.2 Florida Statutes 335.065

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 21.6 Maryland Code § 2-602

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 20.4 South Carolina DOT Commission Resolution

1 3 4 12.8 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 1 4 16.0 84.8 New Jersey Policy No. 703

2 3 5 16.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 72.0 Louisiana Complete Streets Policy

2 0 2 6.4 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 71.2 California Deputy Directive 54-R1

2 3 5 16.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 70.4 North Carolina Complete Streets Policy

2 3 5 16.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 61.2 Colorado Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy

0 3 3
9.6

3 2 5
4.0

5
8.0

0
0.0

0 0 0 0
0.0 56.8 Pennsylvania

Design Manual Appendix J: 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Checklist

1 3 4
12.8

3 2 5
4.0

5
8.0

0
0.0

1 0 0 1
4.0 50.8 Virginia

Policy for Integrating Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Accommodations

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 39.2 Delaware Executive Order No. 6



4

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

STATE INTERNAL POLICY, CONT.
Tennessee Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Mississippi Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 0 12.0

STATE DESIGN GUIDANCE

Massachusetts
Project Development and 
Design Guide

2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION RESOLUTION
Las Cruces MPO, NM Resolution 08-10 2008 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

San Antonio-Bexar County 
MPO

Resolution Supporting a 
Complete Streets Policy

2009 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Region 2 Planning Commission
(Jackson, MI )

Resolution
2006 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION POLICY
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 
Commission (Columbus, OH)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Bloomington/Monroe County 
MPO (Bloomington, IN)

Complete Streets Policy 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Fargo-Moorhead Metropolitan 
Council (Fargo, ND)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Madison County Council of 
Governments (Anderson, IN)

Complete Streets Policy 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Northwestern Indiana Regional 
Planning Commission (Portage, 
IN)

Complete Streets Guidelines 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Bi-State Regional Commission 
(Quad Cities, IA & IL)

Complete Streets Policy 2008 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Northeast Ohio Areawide 
Coordinating Agency 
(Cleveland, OH)

Regional Transportation 
Investment Policy

2003 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 00 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2



5
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 36.0 Tennesee Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 31.6 Mississippi Bicycle and Pedestrian Policy

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 52.0 Massachusetts
Project Development and 
Design Guide

2 0 2 6.4 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 50.8 Las Cruces MPO, NM Resolution 08-10

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 50.4
San Antonio-Bexar County 
MPO

Resolution Supporting a 
Complete Streets Policy

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0
Region 2 Planning Commission
(Jackson, MI )

Resolution

0 3 3 9.6 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0.0 1 1 0 1 2 8.0 77.6
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 
Commission (Columbus, OH)

Complete Streets Policy

2 3 5 16.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 72.0
Bloomington/Monroe County 
MPO (Bloomington, IN)

Complete Streets Policy

1 0 1 3.2 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 1 2 8.0 68.8
Fargo-Moorhead Metropolitan 
Council (Fargo, ND)

Complete Streets Policy

2 3 5 16.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 68.0
Madison County Council of 
Governments (Anderson, IN)

Complete Streets Policy

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 48.8
Northwestern Indiana Regional 
Planning Commission (Portage, 
IN)

Complete Streets Guidelines

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 46.0
Bi-State Regional Commission 
(Quad Cities, IA & IL)

Complete Streets Policy

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 42.8
Northeast Ohio Areawide 
Coordinating Agency 
(Cleveland, OH)

Regional Transportation 
Investment Policy



6

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION POLICY, CONT.
Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (San Francisco, 
CA)

Regional Policy for the 
Accommodation of Non-
Motorized Travelers

2006 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Community Planning Assocation 
of Southwest Idaho (Boise, ID)

Complete Streets Policy 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Johnson County Council of 
Governments (Iowa City, IA)

Complete Streets Policy 2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION PLAN
Wilmington Area Planning 
Council (Wilmington, DE)

Regional Transportation Plan 
2030 Update

2007 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Madison Area Transportation 
Planning Board (Madison, WI)

Regional Transportation Plan 
2030

2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Mid-America Regional Council 
(Kansas City, MO)

Transportation Outlook 2040 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

St. Joseph Area Transportation 
Study Organization (St. Joseph, 
MO)

Bicycle and Pedestrian Master 
Plan

2001 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Capital Area Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (Austin, 
TX)

Texas Mobility Plan 2030 2005 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

East-West Gateway Council (St. 
Louis , MO)

St. Louis Legacy 2035 Long-
Range Plan

2007 1 1.2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Regional Planning Commission 
of Greater Birmingham, AL

2035 Regional Transportation 
Plan

2010 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Florida-Alabama Transportation 
Planning Organization 
(Pensacola, FL)

Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Coastal Region MPO (Savannah, 
GA)

2035 CORE Connections 
Framework Mobility Plan

2009 1 1.2 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Cheyenne, WY MPO PlanCheyenne 2006 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0



7
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 1 1 5 20.0 39.6
Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (San Francisco, 
CA)

Regional Policy for the 
Accommodation of Non-
Motorized Travelers

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0
Community Planning Assocation 
of Southwest Idaho (Boise, ID)

Complete Streets Policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 19.6
Johnson County Council of 
Governments (Iowa City, IA)

Complete Streets Policy

2 0 2 6.4 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 63.2
Wilmington Area Planning 
Council (Wilmington, DE)

Regional Transportation Plan 
2030 Update

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 48.8
Madison Area Transportation 
Planning Board (Madison, WI)

Regional Transportation Plan 
2030

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 5 4.0 0 0 1 1 4.0 44.0
Mid-America Regional Council 
(Kansas City, MO)

Transportation Outlook 2040

2 0 2 6.4 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 41.6
St. Joseph Area Transportation 
Study Organization (St. Joseph, 
MO)

Bicycle and Pedestrian Master 
Plan

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 39.2
Capital Area Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (Austin, 
TX)

Texas Mobility Plan 2030

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 1 1 4.0 38.8
East-West Gateway Council (St. 
Louis , MO)

St. Louis Legacy 2035 Long-
Range Plan

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 36.4
Regional Planning Commission 
of Greater Birmingham, AL

2035 Regional Transportation 
Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 24.8
Florida-Alabama Transportation 
Planning Organization 
(Pensacola, FL)

Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 21.2
Coastal Region MPO (Savannah, 
GA)

2035 CORE Connections 
Framework Mobility Plan 

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 20.0 Cheyenne, WY MPO PlanCheyenne



8

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

METROPOLITAN PLANNING ORGANIZATION DESIGN GUIDANCE
Knoxville, TN Regional TPO Complete Streets Guidelines 2009 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

COUNTY ORDINANCE
Salt Lake County, UT Ordinance No. 1672 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Montgomery County, MD County Code Chapter 49 2007 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

COUNTY RESOLUTION
Lee County, FL Resolution No. 09-11-13 2009 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Dona Ana County, NM Resolution 09-114 2009 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Monmouth County, NJ Resolution 2010 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 1 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Kauai, HI Resolution No. 2010-48 Draft 1 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Hennepin County, MN Resolution No. 09-0058R1 2009 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Richland County, SC Resolution 2009 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Erie County, NY Resolution 2008 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Jackson County, MI Resolution 2006 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Spartanburg County, SC Resolution No. 07-30 2007 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 1 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

La Plata County, CO Resolution No 2007-33 2007 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Ulster County, NY Resolution No. 229-09 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Pierce County, WA Resolution 2008-86s 2008 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

DuPage County, IL Resolution DT-0033-04 2004 1 1.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

COUNTY TAX ORDINANCE
San Diego County, CA Transnet Tax Extension 2004 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Sacramento County, CA Ordinance No. STA 04-01 2004 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

COUNTY POLICY
Hennepin County, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Ada County Highway District, 
ID

ACHD Complete Streets Policy 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Richland County, SC
Complete Streets Program 
Goals and Objectives

2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 0 3 7.2



9
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 43.2 Knoxville, TN Regional TPO Complete Streets Guidelines

0 3 3 9.6 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 64.4 Salt Lake County, UT Ordinance No. 1672

1 0 1 3.2 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 46.4 Montgomery County, MD County Code Chapter 49

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 66.0 Lee County, FL Resolution No. 09-11-13

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 64.8 Dona Ana County, NM Resolution 09-114

1 3 4 12.8 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 52.0 Monmouth County, NJ Resolution

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 48.4 Kauai, HI Resolution No. 2010-48 Draft 1

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 41.2 Hennepin County, MN Resolution No. 09-0058R1

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 37.2 Richland County, SC Resolution

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 35.6 Erie County, NY Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0 Jackson County, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 30.0 Spartanburg County, SC Resolution No. 07-30

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 La Plata County, CO Resolution No 2007-33

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 28.8 Ulster County, NY Resolution No. 229-09

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 21.2 Pierce County, WA Resolution 2008-86s

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 18.0 DuPage County, IL Resolution DT-0033-04

2 3 5 16.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 52.4 San Diego County, CA Transnet Tax Extension

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 28.4 Sacramento County, CA Ordinance No. STA 04-01

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 81.6 Hennepin County, MN Complete Streets Policy

1 3 4 12.8 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 62.4
Ada County Highway District, 
ID

ACHD Complete Streets Policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 5 4.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 50.8 Richland County, SC
Complete Streets Program 
Goals and Objectives



10

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

COUNTY POLICY, CONT.
Cook County, IL Complete Streets Policy 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Cobb County, GA Complete Streets Policy 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Marin County, CA

Best Practice Directive for 
Inclusion of Multi-Modal 
Elements into Improvement 
Projects

2007 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

COUNTY PLAN

Washtenaw County, MI
Non-Motorized Plan for 
Washtenaw County

2006 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 3 0 2 5 8.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Arlington County, VA Master Transportation Plan 2007 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Prince George's County, MD Master Plan of Transportation 2009 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

CITY ORDINANCE
Crystal City, MO Ordinance 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Herculaneum, MO Ordinance No. 33-2010 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

DeSoto, MO Bill No. 45-08 2008 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Seattle, WA Ordinance No. 122386 2007 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Dexter, MI Ordinance No. 2010-05 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Airway Heights, WA Ordinance C-720 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Ferndale, MI Ordinance No. 1101 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Renton, WA Ordinance No. 5517 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Houghton, MI Ordinance 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Taylor, MI Ordinance 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Ferguson, MO
Bill Amending Article 1 of 
Chapter 40 of the Municipal 
Code

2008 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

St. Louis, MO Board Bill No. 7 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

North Myrtle Beach, SC Ordinance 2009 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 0 0 0 0.0

Saline, MI Ordinance No. 731 2010 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 1 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Buffalo, NY Complete Streets Policy 2008 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0



11
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 2 0 3 12.0 43.6 Cook County, IL Complete Streets Policy

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0 Cobb County, GA Complete Streets Policy

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 30.0 Marin County, CA

Best Practice Directive for 
Inclusion of Multi-Modal 
Elements into Improvement 
Projects

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 52.0 Washtenaw County, MI
Non-Motorized Plan for 
Washtenaw County

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 5 4.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 49.6 Arlington County, VA Master Transportation Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 27.6 Prince George's County, MD Master Plan of Transportation

1 3 4 12.8 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 80.0 Crystal City, MO Ordinance

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 74.4 Herculaneum, MO Ordinance No. 33-2010

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 57.2 DeSoto, MO Bill No. 45-08

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 1 2 8.0 56.8 Seattle, WA Ordinance No. 122386

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 56.0 Dexter, MI Ordinance No. 2010-05

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 55.2 Airway Heights, WA Ordinance C-720

2 3 5 16.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 55.2 Ferndale, MI Ordinance No. 1101

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 54.8 Renton, WA Ordinance No. 5517

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 53.6 Houghton, MI Ordinance

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 53.6 Taylor, MI Ordinance

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 52.0 Ferguson, MO
Bill Amending Article 1 of 
Chapter 40 of the Municipal 
Code

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 52.0 St. Louis, MO Board Bill No. 7

0 3 3 9.6 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 50.4 North Myrtle Beach, SC Ordinance

1 3 4 12.8 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 49.2 Saline, MI Ordinance No. 731

1 3 4 12.8 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 1 0 1 4.0 49.2 Buffalo, NY Complete Streets Policy



12

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

CITY ORDINANCE, CONT.
Columbia, MO Ordinance 018097 2004 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Salt Lake City, UT Ordinance No. 4-10 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

San Francisco, CA Public Works Code 2.4.13 2008 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Lansing, MI Ordinance No. 1145 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Redmond, WA Code Chapter 12.06 2007 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Honolulu, HI
Charter Sections 6-1703, 
6-1706

2006 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Issaquah, WA Code Chapter 12.10 2007 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

San Francisco, CA Transit First Policy 1995 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Kirkland, WA Ordinance No. 4061 2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Sedro-Woolley, WA Ordinance 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Columbus, OH Ordinance No. 1987-2008 2008 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 0 0 0 0.0

Albert Lea, MN
Subdivison Ordinance Section 
129 (t)

2009 1 1.2 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 0 0 0 0.0

CITY RESOLUTION
Missoula, MT Resolution No. 7473 2009 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Lee's Summit, MO Resolution No. 10-17 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Bozeman, MT Resolution No. 4244 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Byron, MN Resolution 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Stewartville, MN Resolution 2010-32 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Baltimore, MD Council Bill 09-0433 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Netcong, NJ Resolution 2010-96 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Helena, MT Resolution No. 19799 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Sandpoint, ID Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Red Bank, NJ Resolution No. 10-195 2010 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 1 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Franklin, PA Resolution No. 18 of 2010 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Mesilla, NM Resolution 2008-25 2008 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Tupelo, MS Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0



13
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 3 3 9.6 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 44.0 Columbia, MO Ordinance 018097

2 3 5 16.0 3 2 5 4.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 44.0 Salt Lake City, UT Ordinance No. 4-10

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 37.2 San Francisco, CA Public Works Code 2.4.13

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 30.4 Lansing, MI Ordinance No. 1145

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 24.0 Redmond, WA Code Chapter 12.06

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 23.6 Honolulu, HI
Charter Sections 6-1703, 
6-1706

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 23.6 Issaquah, WA Code Chapter 12.10

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 17.2 San Francisco, CA Transit First Policy

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 16.4 Kirkland, WA Ordinance No. 4061

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 16.4 Sedro-Woolley, WA Ordinance

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 15.2 Columbus, OH Ordinance No. 1987-2008

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 13.6 Albert Lea, MN
Subdivison Ordinance Section 
129 (t)

2 3 5 16.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 75.6 Missoula, MT Resolution No. 7473

2 3 5 16.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 72.8 Lee's Summit, MO Resolution No. 10-17

1 3 4 12.8 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 70.4 Bozeman, MT Resolution No. 4244

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 66.4 Byron, MN Resolution

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 66.4 Stewartville, MN Resolution 2010-32

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 5 4.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 62.8 Baltimore, MD Council Bill 09-0433

1 3 4 12.8 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 60.0 Netcong, NJ Resolution 2010-96

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 5 4.0 3 1 1 5 20.0 58.4 Helena, MT Resolution No. 19799

1 0 1 3.2 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 54.4 Sandpoint, ID Resolution

1 3 4 12.8 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 52.0 Red Bank, NJ Resolution No. 10-195

1 0 1 3.2 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 51.2 Franklin, PA Resolution No. 18 of 2010

2 0 2 6.4 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 48.4 Mesilla, NM Resolution 2008-25

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 46.8 Tupelo, MS Resolution



14

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

CITY RESOLUTION, CONT.
Hernando, MS Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Pascagoula, MS Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Columbus, MS Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

New Haven, CT Complete Streets Order 2008 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Orange Beach, AL Resolution No. 10-097 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Bethlehem, NY Resolution No. 30 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Greenville, SC Resolution 2008-49 2008 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 1 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Kingston, NY Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Brookhaven, NY Resolution 2010-993 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Gowanda, NY Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Cuba, NY Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Islip, NY Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Charlottesville, VA Resolution 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Emerson, NJ Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Anderson, SC Resolution 2009 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Independence, MN Resolution No. 10-0413-03 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Elizabethtown, NY Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

West Windsor, NJ Resolution 2010-R175 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Lawrence, NJ Resolution No. 336-10 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Knoxville, TN Resolution No. 287-09 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Sault Ste. Marie, MI Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Golden, CO Resolution No. 2059 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Jackson, MI Resolution 2006 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Hoboken, NJ Resolution 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Manistique, MI Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Everett, WA Resolution 2008 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

St. Paul, MN Resolution No. 09-213 2009 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Newport, RI Resolution No. 2010-130 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2



15
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 46.8 Hernando, MS Resolution

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 46.8 Pascagoula, MS Resolution

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 46.8 Columbus, MS Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 46.8 New Haven, CT Complete Streets Order

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 42.0 Orange Beach, AL Resolution No. 10-097

1 3 4 12.8 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 41.2 Bethlehem, NY Resolution No. 30

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 41.2 Greenville, SC Resolution 2008-49

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 40.4 Kingston, NY Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Brookhaven, NY Resolution 2010-993

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Gowanda, NY Resolution

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Cuba, NY Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Islip, NY Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Charlottesville, VA Resolution

0 3 3 9.6 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 38.8 Emerson, NJ Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 37.2 Anderson, SC Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 37.2 Independence, MN Resolution No. 10-0413-03

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 36.4 Elizabethtown, NY Resolution

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 35.2 West Windsor, NJ Resolution 2010-R175

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 35.2 Lawrence, NJ Resolution No. 336-10

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 34.8 Knoxville, TN Resolution No. 287-09

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.4 Sault Ste. Marie, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0 Golden, CO Resolution No. 2059

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0 Jackson, MI Resolution

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.0 Hoboken, NJ Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 33.2 Manistique, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 33.2 Everett, WA Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 32.4 St. Paul, MN Resolution No. 09-213

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 32.4 Newport, RI Resolution No. 2010-130



16

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

CITY RESOLUTION, CONT.
Prattville, AL Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Hamtramck, MI Resolution 2010-120 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Mackinaw City, MI Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Columbus, OH Resolution 2008 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Edmond, OK Resolution No. 11-10 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Morgantown, WV Resolution 2007 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Duluth, MN Resolution No. 10-0218 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 0 0 0 0.0

Newport, OR Resolution No. 3508 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 0 0 0 0.0

Montclair, NJ Resolution No. 233-09 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Iowa City, IA Resolution 2007 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Columbia, SC Resolution No. R2010-054 2010 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Miami, FL Resolution No. 09-00274 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 0 0 0 0.0

Topeka, KS Resolution 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Madison, WI Resolution No. 09-997 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Fairhope, AL Resolution No. 1570-09 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Daphne, AL Resolution No. 2009-111 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Novato, CA Resolution 2007 1 1.2 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Novi, MI Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Berkley, MI Resolution 48-10 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Spokane, WA Resolution No. 2010-0018 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Clawson, MI Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Ross, CA Resolution No. 1718 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Fairfax, CA Resolution No. 2527 2008 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

San Anselmo, CA
Bicycle Master Plan Appendix B: 
Complete Streets Resolution

2008 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Linden, MI Resolution 2010 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 0 0 0 0.0

Flint, MI Resolution 2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0

Spartanburg, SC Resolution 2006 1 1.2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 2 2 4.8



17
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 Prattville, AL Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 Hamtramck, MI Resolution 2010-120

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 Mackinaw City, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 Columbus, OH Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 Edmond, OK Resolution No. 11-10

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 29.2 Morgantown, WV Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 28.4 Duluth, MN Resolution No. 10-0218

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 28.4 Newport, OR Resolution No. 3508

1 0 1 3.2 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 28.0 Montclair, NJ Resolution No. 233-09

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 27.6 Iowa City, IA Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 27.6 Columbia, SC Resolution No. R2010-054

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 24.4 Miami, FL Resolution No. 09-00274

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 24.4 Topeka, KS Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 24.4 Madison, WI Resolution No. 09-997

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 23.6 Fairhope, AL Resolution No. 1570-09

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 23.6 Daphne, AL Resolution No. 2009-111

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 21.2 Novato, CA Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 21.2 Novi, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 21.2 Berkley, MI Resolution 48-10

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 21.2 Spokane, WA Resolution No. 2010-0018

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 21.2 Clawson, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 20.4 Ross, CA Resolution No. 1718

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 20.4 Fairfax, CA Resolution No. 2527

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 20.4 San Anselmo, CA
Bicycle Master Plan Appendix B: 
Complete Streets Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 20.4 Linden, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 19.2 Flint, MI Resolution

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 6.0 Spartanburg, SC Resolution



18

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

CITY TAX LEVY
Seattle, WA Bridging the Gap 2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

CITY POLICY ADOPTED BY ELECTED BOARD
Roanoke, VA Complete Streets Policy 2008 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Big Lake, MN Resolution No. 2010-74 2010 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Festus, MO Resolution No. 3924 1/2 2010 1 1.2 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 2 5 8.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Rochester, MN Complete Streets Policy 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Babylon, NY Complete Streets Policy 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Dayton, OH Livable Streets Policy 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Las Cruces, NM Resolution 09-301 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Roswell, GA Resolution 2009-03-10 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Rockville, MD Complete Streets Policy 2009 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Coeur d'Alene, ID Resolution 09-021 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Des Moines, IA Complete Streets Policy 2008 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

North Little Rock, AR Resolution No. 74-25 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Concord, NH
Comprehensive Transportation 
Policy

2010 5 6.0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 4.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Midland, MI Complete Streets Policy 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

CITY INTERNAL POLICY
Washington, DC Departmental Order 06-2010 2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Nashville, TN Executive Order No. 40 2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Chicago, IL Safe Streets for Chicago 2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Salt Lake City, UT
Executive Order on Complete 
Streets

2007 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Cascade, IA Policy Statement 2006 5 6.0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 4.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Philadelphia, PA Executive Order No. 5-09 2009 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

CITY PLAN

New York City, NY
Sustainable Streets Strategic 
Plan

2008 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0



19
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

1 0 1 3.2 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 56.8 Seattle, WA Bridging the Gap

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 5 4.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 76.8 Roanoke, VA Complete Streets Policy

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 76.0 Big Lake, MN Resolution No. 2010-74

2 0 2 6.4 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 75.2 Festus, MO Resolution No. 3924 1/2

1 3 4 12.8 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 74.4 Rochester, MN Complete Streets Policy

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 72.0 Babylon, NY Complete Streets Policy

2 3 5 16.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 72.0 Dayton, OH Livable Streets Policy

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 62.4 Las Cruces, NM Resolution 09-301

2 0 2 6.4 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 58.4 Roswell, GA Resolution 2009-03-10

0 3 3 9.6 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 56.8 Rockville, MD Complete Streets Policy

1 0 1 3.2 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 51.2 Coeur d'Alene, ID Resolution 09-021

2 0 2 6.4 3 2 5 4.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Des Moines, IA Complete Streets Policy

1 0 1 3.2 3 2 5 4.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 38.8 North Little Rock, AR Resolution No. 74-25

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 27.2 Concord, NH
Comprehensive Transportation 
Policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 24.4 Midland, MI Complete Streets Policy

1 3 4 12.8 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 66.4 Washington, DC Departmental Order 06-2010

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 50.0 Nashville, TN Executive Order No. 40

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 39.6 Chicago, IL Safe Streets for Chicago

2 3 5 16.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 35.6 Salt Lake City, UT
Executive Order on Complete 
Streets

2 3 5 16.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 35.6 Cascade, IA Policy Statement

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 33.2 Philadelphia, PA Executive Order No. 5-09

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 5 4.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 59.2 New York City, NY
Sustainable Streets Strategic 
Plan



20

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

CITY PLAN, CONT.
Fort Collins, CO Transportation Master Plan 2004 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Scottsdale, AZ
Scottsdale Transportation 
Master Plan

2008 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Champaign, IL Transportation Master Plan 2008 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Boulder, CO Transportation Master Plan 1996 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Lee's Summit, MO Lee's Summit 360 Strategic Plan 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Tacoma, WA
Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment

2008 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Decatur, GA Community Transportation Plan 2008 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Columbus, IN Thoroughfare Plan 2010 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Louisville-Jefferson Metro, KY
Cornerstone 2020 
Comprehensive Plan: Complete 
Streets Ordinance

2008 5 6.0 0 2 0 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Santa Barbara, CA
Circulation Element to the City 
General Plan

1998 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

Bloomington, MN Alternative Transportation Plan 2008 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Salamanca, NY
Comprehensive Plan: Complete 
Streets Policy

2010 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 1 4 16.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Colorado Springs, CO
Complete Streets Amendment 
to the Intermodal Transportation 
Plan

2005 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

West Palm Beach, FL
Transportation Element of the 
Comprehensive Plan

2008 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 0 3 7.2

University Place, WA Comprehensive Plan 2004 3 3.6 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 8.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Northampton, MA
Comprehensive Municipal 
Transportation Plan

2005 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 12.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

Hendersonville, TN
Land Use and Transportation 
Plan

2009 1 1.2 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0



21
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 1 4 16.0 57.6 Fort Collins, CO Transportation Master Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 5 4.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 56.0 Scottsdale, AZ
Scottsdale Transportation 
Master Plan

2 0 2 6.4 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 55.2 Champaign, IL Transportation Master Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 5 4.0 1 0 1 2 8.0 55.2 Boulder, CO Transportation Master Plan

2 0 2 6.4 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 1 0 2 8.0 52.0 Lee's Summit, MO Lee's Summit 360 Strategic Plan

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 51.2 Tacoma, WA
Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 50.4 Decatur, GA Community Transportation Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 48.0 Columbus, IN Thoroughfare Plan

2 0 2 6.4 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 48.0 Louisville-Jefferson Metro, KY
Cornerstone 2020 
Comprehensive Plan: Complete 
Streets Ordinance

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 0 0 3 12.0 45.6 Santa Barbara, CA
Circulation Element to the City 
General Plan

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 43.2 Bloomington, MN Alternative Transportation Plan

2 0 2 6.4 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 42.4 Salamanca, NY
Comprehensive Plan: Complete 
Streets Policy

1 0 1 3.2 3 0 3 2.4 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 40.8 Colorado Springs, CO
Complete Streets Amendment 
to the Intermodal Transportation 
Plan

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 5 4.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 38.4 West Palm Beach, FL
Transportation Element of the 
Comprehensive Plan

0 0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 33.6 University Place, WA Comprehensive Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 0 3 2.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 30.0 Northampton, MA
Comprehensive Municipal 
Transportation Plan

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 27.2 Hendersonville, TN
Land Use and Transportation 
Plan



22

co
m

pl
et

e 
st

re
et

s 
po

lic
y 

an
al

ys
is

appendix

intent all users and modes network jurisdiction phases

location policy year po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

bi
ke

/p
ed

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 1

bi
ke

/p
ed

/t
ra

ns
it 

+
 2

al
l a

bi
lit

ie
s

al
l a

ge
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ag
en

cy
-fu

nd
ed

pr
iv

at
el

y-
bu

ilt

co
lla

bo
ra

te
 w

/o
th

er
s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

ne
w

 &
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

pl
us

 r
ep

ai
r, 

op
er

at
io

ns
, e

tc
.

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

CITY DESIGN GUIDANCE

New Haven, CT
Complete Streets Design 
Manual

2010 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 0 2 2 3.2 0 3 2 5 12.0

Tacoma, WA Complete Street Guidelines 2009 3 3.6 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

New York City, NY Street Design Manual 2009 5 6.0 0 0 0 3 1 1 5 20.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Louisville-Jefferson Metro, KY Complete Streets Manual 2007 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 2 5 12.0

Charlotte, NC Urban Street Design Guidelines 2007 5 6.0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 2 5 12.0

San Diego, CA Street Design Manual 2002 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 3 0 3 4.8 0 3 0 3 7.2

Basalt, CO Complete Street Design 2005 3 3.6 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 12.0 5 2.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2

Sacramento, CA
Sacramento Pedestrian Friendly 
Street Standards

2004 3 3.6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 3 0 3 7.2



23
appendix

exceptions design context measures implementation
ex

ce
pt

io
ns

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

de
sig

n 
gu

id
an

ce

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
&

 b
al

an
ce

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

ne
xt

 s
te

ps

ov
er

sig
ht

 o
r 

re
po

rt
in

g

pr
io

rit
iz

at
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s

po
in

ts

w
ei

gh
t

TO
TA

L 
SC

O
R

E

location policy

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 5 4.0 1 1 1 3 12.0 71.2 New Haven, CT
Complete Streets Design 
Manual

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 3 1 0 4 16.0 70.4 Tacoma, WA Complete Street Guidelines

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 56.8 New York City, NY Street Design Manual

2 0 2 6.4 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 55.2 Louisville-Jefferson Metro, KY Complete Streets Manual

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 5 4.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 52.0 Charlotte, NC Urban Street Design Guidelines

0 0 0 0.0 3 2 5 4.0 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 41.6 San Diego, CA Street Design Manual

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 0 0 0 0 0.0 34.4 Basalt, CO Complete Street Design

0 0 0 0.0 0 2 2 1.6 5 8.0 0 0.0 1 0 0 1 4.0 24.4 Sacramento, CA
Sacramento Pedestrian Friendly 
Street Standards



National Complete Streets Coalition
1707 L St NW, Suite 1050 • Washington, DC 20036
202-955-5543 • info@completestreets.org
www.completestreets.org



 

NATIONAL COMPLETE STREETS COALITION 
1707 L ST NW, SUITE 250 • WASHINGTON DC 20036 

 
www.completestreets.org • p: 202-955-5543 • f: 202-955-5592 • e: info@completestreets.org 

 
 

ELEMENTS OF AN IDEAL COMPLETE STREETS POLICY 
 
Regardless of a policy’s form, the National Complete Streets Coalition has identified ten elements of a 
comprehensive complete streets policy, as discussed below. For examples of strong policy language, see our 
current chart of selected policies: http://www.completestreets.org/webdocs/policy/cs-chart-samplepolicy.pdf 
 

• Includes a vision for how and why the community wants to complete its streets 
 
• Specifies that ‘all users’ includes pedestrians, bicyclists and transit passengers of all ages and 

abilities, as well as trucks, buses and automobiles. 
 
• Encourages street connectivity and aims to create a comprehensive, integrated, connected 

network for all modes. 
 
• Is adoptable by all agencies to cover all roads. 
 
• Applies to both new and retrofit projects, including design, planning, maintenance, and 

operations, for the entire right of way. 
 
• Makes any exceptions specific and sets a clear procedure that requires high-level approval of 

exceptions. 
 
• Directs the use of the latest and best design criteria and guidelines while recognizing the need 

for flexibility in balancing user needs. 
 
• Directs that complete streets solutions will complement the context of the community. 
 
• Establishes performance standards with measurable outcomes. 
 
• Includes specific next steps for implementation of the policy 

 
Sets a vision 

A strong vision can inspire a community to follow through on its complete streets policy. Just as no 
two policies are alike, visions are not one-size-fits-all either. In the small town of Decatur, GA, the 
Community Transportation Plan defines their vision as promoting health through physical activity 
and active transportation. In the City of Chicago, the Department of Transportation focuses on 
creating streets safe for travel by even the most vulnerable - children, older adults, and those with 
disabilities. 

Specifies all users 
A true complete streets policy must apply to everyone traveling along the road. A sidewalk without 
curb ramps is useless to someone using a wheelchair. A street with an awkwardly placed public 
transportation stop without safe crossings is dangerous for riders. A fast-moving road with no safe 
space for cyclists will discourage those who depend on bicycles for transportation. A road with 
heavy freight traffic must be planned with those vehicles in mind. Older adults and children face 
particular challenges as they are more likely to be seriously injured or killed along a roadway. 
Automobiles are an important part of a complete street as well, as any change made to better 



 

accommodate other modes will have an effect on personal vehicles too. In some cases, like the 
installation of curb bulb-outs, these changes can improve traffic flow and the driving experience. 

Creates a network 
Complete streets policies should result in the creation of a complete transportation network for all 
modes of travel. A network approach helps to balance the needs of all users. Instead of trying to 
make each street perfect for every traveler, communities can create an interwoven array of streets 
that emphasize different modes and provide quality accessibility for everyone. This can mean 
creating bicycle boulevards to speed along bicycle travel on certain low-traffic routes; dedicating 
more travel lanes to bus travel only; or pedestrianizing segments of routes that are already 
overflowing with people on foot. It is important to provide basic safe access for all users regardless 
of design strategy and networks should not require some users to take long detours. 

All agencies and all roads 
Creating complete streets networks is difficult because many agencies control our streets. They are 
built and maintained by state, county, and local agencies, and private developers often build new 
roads. Typical complete streets policies cover only one jurisdiction’s roadways, which can cause 
network problems: a bike lane on one side of a bridge disappears on the other because the road is 
no longer controlled by the agency that built the lane. Another common issue to resolve is inclusion 
of complete streets elements in sub-division regulations, which govern how private developers build 
their new streets. 

All projects 
For many years, multi-modal streets have been treated as ’special projects’ requiring extra planning, 
funding, and effort. The complete streets approach is different. Its intent is to view all transportation 
improvements as opportunities to create safer, more accessible streets for all users, including 
pedestrians, cyclists, and public transportation passengers. Under this approach, even small projects 
can be an opportunity to make meaningful improvements. In repaving projects, for example, an 
edge stripe can be shifted to create more room for cyclists. In routine work on traffic lights, the 
timing can be changed to better accommodate pedestrians walking at a slower speed. A strong 
complete streets policy will integrate complete streets planning into all types of projects, including 
new construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, repair, and maintenance. 

Exceptions 
Making a policy work in the real world requires developing a process to handle exceptions to 
providing for all modes in each project. The Federal Highway Administration’s guidance on 
accommodating bicycle and pedestrian travel named three exceptions that have become commonly 
used in complete streets policies: 1) accommodation is not necessary on corridors where non-
motorized use is prohibited, such as interstate freeways; 2) cost of accommodation is excessively 
disproportionate to the need or probable use; 3) a documented absence of current or future need. 
Many communities have included their own exceptions, such as severe topological constraints. In 
addition to defining exceptions, there must be a clear process for granting them, where a senior-
level department head must approve them. Any exceptions should be kept on record and publicly-
available. 

Design criteria 
Communities adopting a complete streets policy should review their design policies to ensure their 
ability to accommodate all modes of travel, while still providing flexibility to allow designers to tailor 
the project to unique circumstances. Some communities will opt to re-write their design manual. 
Others will refer to existing design guides, such as those issued by AASHTO, state design standards, 
and the Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines. 

Context-sensitive 
An effective complete streets policy must be sensitive to the community context. Being clear about 
this in the initial policy statement can allay fears that the policy will require inappropriately wide 



 

roads in quiet neighborhoods or miles of little-used sidewalks in rural areas. A strong statement 
about context can help align transportation and land use planning goals, creating livable, strong 
neighborhoods. 

Performance measures 
The traditional performance measure for transportation planning has been vehicular Level of 
Service (LOS) – a measure of automobile congestion.  Complete streets planning requires taking a 
broader look at how the system is serving all users.  Communities with complete streets policies 
can measure success through a number of ways: the miles of on-street bicycle routes created; new 
linear feet of pedestrian accommodation; changes in the number of people using public 
transportation, bicycling, or walking (mode shift); number of new street trees; and/or the creation 
or adoption of a new multi-modal Level of Service standard that better measures the quality of 
travel experience. The fifth edition of Highway Capacity Manual will include this new way of 
measuring LOS. Cities like San Francisco and Charlotte have already begun to develop their own. 

Implementation 
Taking a complete streets policy from paper into practice is not easy, but providing some 
momentum with specific implementation steps can help. Some policies establish a task force or 
commission to work toward policy implementation. There are four key steps for successful 
implementation: 1) Restructure procedures to accommodate all users on every project; 2) Develop 
new design policies and guides; 3) Offer workshops and other training opportunities to planners 
and engineers; and 4) Institute better ways to measure performance and collect data on how well 
the streets are serving all users. 

























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































RESOLUTION R- __ -11 
 

Introduced by Mayor Donald Merkes. 
 
A RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF RESTORING THE STATE MANDATE FOR RECYLCING 
PROGRAMS AND RELATED GRANTS TO THE 2011-2013 STATE BIENNIAL BUDGET 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin has a history of strong leadership regarding recycling and sustainable 
practices; 
  

WHEREAS, recycling extends the life of landfills in Wisconsin, conserves Wisconsin’s natural resources, 
and helps sustain the environment for future generations; and 

 
WHEREAS, research completed by the U.S. Department of Environmental Protection Agency shows 

recycling protects and expands U.S. manufacturing jobs and increases U.S. competitiveness; and 
 

WHEREAS, the University of Wisconsin Survey Center, commissioned by the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources (2006), demonstrated that 93% of Wisconsin residents favor or strongly favor the Recycling 
Law and 96% of Wisconsin households are “committed” to recycling; and  
  

WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin mandated recycling in 1990 under 1989 Wisconsin Act 335 and 
Administrative Code NR 544; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Towns, Villages, Cities and Counties responded  by becoming Responsible Units for 
Recycling and as such, invested millions of dollars in education, collection and processing infrastructure for 
Effective Recycling Programs; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin originally proposed to cost share 66% of the Municipalities’ costs for 
establishing and maintaining Effective Recycling Programs; and 
 

WHEREAS, since 1990, the State has taken over one hundred forty million dollars ($140,000,000) away 
from the Recycling and Renewable Energy Segregated Fund to pay for other State programs; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Menasha and other local units of government pay tipping fees to the State of 
Wisconsin to fund the recycling grant program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the State of Wisconsin has imposed levy limits on municipalities putting many under severe 
financial constraints; and  
 

WHEREAS many of the successful recycling programs will be eliminated if funding is not continued. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Menasha Sustainability Board in partnership with 
the City of Menasha Common Council strongly urges the Wisconsin State Legislature to restore the recycling 
program mandate and recycling grants to the 2011-2013 State Biennial Budget. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a copy of this resolution be forwarded to State Senator Michael 

Ellis, State Representative Dean Kaufert and State Representative Al Ott, the State of Wisconsin Joint Committee 
on Finance, and Governor Scott Walker. 

 
Passed and approved this ____ day of _____. 
              
     _________________________________________ 
      Donald Merkes, Mayor 
 
    Attest: 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Deborah A. Galeazzi, City Clerk 



Draft 04/15/11 

City of Menasha 
Sustainability Policy 

 
Definition Sustainability has been defined most commonly as “meeting the 

needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.”  The American Planning 
Association outlines the following four sustainability principles to 
guide communities in implementing sustainable practices: 

 
• Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels 
• Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufactured 

substances that can accumulate in nature 
• Reduce dependence on activities that harm life-sustaining 

ecosystems 
• Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly 

and efficiently. 

Vision As the governing body of the City of Menasha, we recognize our 
responsibility to lead the city in accordance with the principles of 
sustainability.  Using these principles as our guide, we agree to work 
towards the following vision for the City of Menasha: 

 
Operations. We provide effective, affordable, sustainable 
government operations that meet the needs of the present while 
minimizing our negative impact on future generations.  
 
Public Policy. We lead by example and incorporate sustainability 
principles into our public policies.   
 
Community. We promote community awareness of sustainability 
principles and encourage their application in everyday life by our 
citizens, businesses, and institutions. 

 
  



Draft 04/15/11 

Key Sustainability Goals 
 
Community.  Build a sustainable community that fosters a growing local 

economy, affordable housing, healthy living, balanced 
transportation, civic engagement, recreational opportunities, 
environmental and public amenities, and cultural diversity,  

Development. Promote a mix of land uses that incorporate sustainability 
principles and best practices.   

Economy.  Create a dynamic, resilient, and balanced economy that 
encourages local entrepreneurship and sustainable business 
practices. 

Energy.  Foster local energy production, renewable energy sources, 
and energy conservation and efficiency. 

Environment.  Protect and conserve our eco-system and natural resources 
and reduce pollution. 

Food Systems.  Promote local food production, sales, and consumption while 
reducing food related waste. 

Government.  Provide sustainable, cost-effective services that meet the 
needs of our citizens, businesses, and institutions while 
minimizing negative impact on future generations. 

Transportation. Provide a range of integrated transportation systems that 
minimize negative impacts on the community, economy, and 
environment and enhance local and regional mobility and 
connectivity. 

Waste.  Reduce the overall quantity of waste produced by increasing 
recycling rates, reducing waste entering landfills, and 
promoting consumer product awareness. 

 
  



Draft 04/15/11 

2011-12 Sustainability Work Plan 
 
1. Operations. The City of Menasha provides sustainable, cost-effective 

government services that meet the needs of the present while minimizing 
our negative impact on future generations. 

 
A. Energy 

• Finalize detailed energy consumption baseline study and create 
recommendations for change based on results. 

B. Environment 
• Inventory vegetation management practices of city owned 

properties and identify opportunities for reduced maintenance 
inputs. 

• Inventory city owned properties and evaluate opportunities to 
reduce impervious surfaces. 

C. Government 
• Reconfigure the Sustainability Board and establish internal task-

driven “sustainability teams.” 
• Establish set of community sustainability indicators and finalize 

comprehensive baseline study. 
• Finalize procurement policy. 
• Begin review of existing zoning ordinances for sustainability 

principles. 

D. Transportation 
• Develop detailed transportation baseline study and create 

recommendations based on results. 

E. Waste 
• Evaluate monthly recycling collection services. 

 
2. Public Policy. The City of Menasha leads by example and incorporates 

sustainability principles into its public policies. 
 

A. Energy 
B. Environment 

• Review and recommended revisions to weed ordinance to allow 
for prairie and native plantings. 

• Develop program for residential stormwater credit or incentive. 



Draft 04/15/11 

• Develop passive stormwater management facilities at Fire 
Station 36 as a demonstration project. 

C. Food Systems 
• Review ordinances pertaining to agricultural uses in residential 

zoning districts and recommend revisions as needed. 
• Continue Farm Market. 

D. Transportation   
• Promote adoption of complete streets policy. 
• Partner with local residents and/or existing organizations to 

expand pedestrian/bicycling infrastructure. 

E. Waste 
• Offer a community e-waste recycling event.  

 
3. Community. The City of Menasha promotes awareness of sustainability 

principles and encourages their application in everyday life by its 
residents, businesses, and institutions. 

 
A. Community 

• Offer educational materials via handouts, newsletter and 
website articles, and participation at community events and 
expos. 

• Support area and regional sustainability efforts such as ECOS, 
other? 

B. Environment 
• Support activities of the Northeast Wisconsin Stormwater 

Consortium. 

C. Food Systems  
• Support activities of the Community Garden Partnership and 

local community gardens. 
• Promote the Farm Fresh Market. 

D. Waste 
• Promote home composting of yard waste. 


	One-2-Five Final Report (2).pdf
	City of Menasha 125 Report 120910.pdf
	City of Menasha Energy Diagnostic Report
	City of Menasha Benchmarking Report
	Local Disk
	One-2-Five - Benchmarking


	City of Menasha Benchmarking Summary
	Local Disk
	One-2-Five Energy - Benchmarking


	City of Menasha Element Analysis - Industry Sector
	Local Disk
	One-2-Five Energy - Benchmarking


	City of Menasha Element Analysis - Country
	Local Disk
	One-2-Five Energy - Benchmarking


	City of Menasha Star Rating Analysis - Industry Sector
	Local Disk
	One-2-Five Energy - Benchmarking


	City of Menasha Star Rating Analysis - All Sites
	Local Disk
	One-2-Five Energy - Benchmarking



	ECOS_Groundwater Issues Flyer_6_2_11.pdf
	Planning for our Groundwater Resources
	Thursday, June 2nd 6:30 PM Menasha Public Library
	Lower Level – Company E Room
	440 First Street, Menasha WI

	ECOS – FOX VALLEY

	Complete Streets_Policy.pdf
	Complete Streets_Policyanalysis.pdf
	Complete Streets Policy Analysis 2010
	Appendix



